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Monday, October 4, 2010

--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today in the matter of application EB-2010-0008, submitted by Ontario Power Generation Inc.  This application was filed under section 78(1) of the Ontario Energy Board Act, and this is for the approval of increases in the payment amounts for the output of certain of OPG's generating facilities to be effective March 1st, 2011.

Today is the first day of oral testimony, and the first panel, as I understand it, will be the hydroelectric panel.

May I have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. KEIZER:  Charles Keizer on behalf of Ontario Power Generation, and with me is OPG's co-counsel, Crawford Smith, as well as Andrew Barrett and Ms. Barbara Reuber of regulatory affairs OPG, and Carleton Mathias, assistant general counsel for OPG.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan.  I'd like to enter an appearance for Robert Warren, Consumers Council of Canada, and also Mr. Vince DeRose, Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, and they're next door and hope to be in this room at some point in the near future.  Thanks.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thanks, Ms. Girvan.

MR. LORD:  Andrew Lord, counsel for AMPCO, and with me is Tom Adams.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Lord.

MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye, counsel for Energy Probe.  With me is David MacIntosh, and we're expecting Mr. Norm Rubin a little later in the morning.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.


MR. BERTOLOTTI:  Alfredo Bertolotti for -- I am consultant for the Power Workers' Union.  Richard Stephenson will be here later.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, student-at-law, representing the School Energy Coalition. Joining us later will be Jay Shepherd, who's at the Hydro One, and consultant Mark Garner.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Members of the Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I'm joined by Richard Battista, Chris Cincar, and Violet Binette of Board Staff.

I've also been contacted by Basil Alexander and Murray Klippenstein of Pollution Probe, who advised they're not able to attend this morning, but did ask that I enter an appearance.  I don't think they have any questions for panel 1.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Mr. Keizer, are you ready with your first panel?  Unless there are any preliminary matters?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I do -- if I could take the opportunity, have opening remarks to make with respect to this proceeding.  And then we should be able to proceed to the first panel.  I would hope that I would only be about 15 minutes, my opening remarks.
Opening Statement by Mr. Keizer:


MR. KEIZER:  Panel, the prescribed assets which give rise to this application consist of OPG's nuclear generating stations, Pickering A, Pickering B, and Darlington, and also the Niagara plant group on the Niagara River and the R.H. Saunders hydroelectric generating station on the St. Lawrence River.

The prescribed assets produce about 48 percent of Ontario's electricity.  About 75 percent of that comes from the nuclear business and 25 percent comes from the hydroelectric regulated assets.

You have your jurisdiction to set payment amounts under section 78(1) and regulation under the OEB Act 53.05.  But it's also important to note that OPG is somewhat unique with respect to regulated entities in the province, given the fact that it's highly regulated by other areas.  For example, the Niagara and the St. Lawrence River are boundary waters, and OPG is subject to various international treaty obligations, as well as dam safety and environmental legislation are critical areas in the regulatory constraint in relation to their prescribed hydroelectric assets.

And obviously OPG is subject to the authority of the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission, the CNSC, in the context of the Federal Nuclear Safety Control Act as well.  Nuclear waste is heavily regulated under the Nuclear Fuel Waste Act.

I raise this because it's important to note that changes to operations and maintenance routines, as well as capital, often require the approval of the CNSC, and they do take time to implement.

In addition, the OPG is subject to obligations to fund its existing nuclear and future nuclear waste and decommissioning obligations under the Ontario Nuclear Funding Agreement.

That is a context about OPG.  If I could just direct your attention to a few things about the application.

With respect to the application before you, OPG is requesting that you establish payment amounts of $37.38 per megawatt-hour for the regulated hydroelectric generation facilities, and $55.34 per megawatt-hour for the nuclear generation facilities effective March 1, 2011.

In addition, OPG's requesting test-period payment riders for regulated hydroelectric production and nuclear production to amortize deferral and variance accounts that are -- have balances forecasted in the evidence as of December 31, 2010.

For hydroelectric, OPG is proposing a negative payment rider of $2.46 per megawatt-hour, which is a credit to the customer.  And for the nuclear production it's proposing to charge a payment rider of $5.09 per megawatt-hour.

The combined effect of the new payment amounts and the payment riders is an average increase of 6.2 percent from current payment amounts, and riders which represent 1.7 percent on typical residential customer bills.

I also note that the application responds to all of the OEB's directions from the first payment proceedings in 2007-09-05.

With respect to OPG's evidence, it's focused on three components, which I would ask you to keep in mind during the proceeding.  The first component is OPG's revenue requirement and deficiency that exists separate from the deferral and variance account balances.  The second component is the recovery of the variance and deferral account balances through payment riders.  And the third component is new investment initiatives.

The payment amounts in riders resulting from these components are necessary for OPG to meet its obligations to run a safe, reliable, and efficient operation for its nuclear and regulated Hydro assets.

If I could talk about the first component and indicate that, excluding the riders for the recovery of the deferral and variance account balances, and looking only at OPG's test period revenue requirement and deficiency, the increase to the payment amount of $37.38 per megawatt-hour for regulated hydroelectric generation is a 2 percent increase.  And the proposed test period amount for 55.34 for nuclear generation represents an increase of 4.5 percent.

Now, these increases, they arise because of test-period deficiencies of 27.7 million for Hydro and deficiencies of 233.1 million for the nuclear generation facilities.

So putting those increases in perspective, the current payment amounts have been in effect for almost three years. Now, once established, the new payment amounts will be in effect for two years, until the end of 2012.  OPG will not seek a further increase in the second year, as has -- of the test period, as some other utilities have done in current proceedings.

Given that time period, the proposed increases are quite small, and I think it's indicative of the efforts, since the last payments proceeding, to engage in a continuing process of control operating expenses.

This was highlighted, I think, by OPG's president, Tom Mitchell, to Minister Duguid in a letter dated June 24, 2010, and which is produced as an exhibit in this proceeding in L4.1, in which Mr. Mitchell indicated that the OPG's business plan for 2010 to 2014, which is the business plan on which this rate proceeding and the application is based upon, place significant emphasis on reducing OM&A expenses compared to previous years' plans through aggressive target-setting, efficiencies, and cost-reduction measures.  As a result of these efforts, OPG has removed in excess of 600 million over the period 2010 to 2013.

So if I could touch just briefly on operating expenses and highlight what the evidence will show in that regard.

The evidence will demonstrate OPG's success in cost control.  For example, for regulated hydroelectric, OM&A costs in this application are forecast to increase by approximately 4.5 percent over a three-year period from the end of 2009 to the end of 2012, which is an average of 1.5 percent per year.

Considering that labour costs are a major component of OM&A and with general wage increases from 2 to 3 percent per year over the same period, the test period OM&A request embodies substantial cost savings.

The evidence shows that for the nuclear business, it has undertaken extensive benchmarking using a top-down business planning approach, and it's developed a challenging five-year operational and financial performance targets designed to close those gaps that have been revealed through benchmarking.  To help meet these targets, nuclear has developed a number of key initiatives as part of the 2010-2014 nuclear business plan, and based on these initiatives and other cost control measures, this application and the business plan on which the application is based, contains over $250 million in OM&A cost savings in the test period.

With respect to rate base and cost of capital, the regulated hydroelectric rate base decreases by a small amount each year over the 2007 to the 2012 period, largely because of depreciation/amortization of in-service fixed and intangible assets exceeds additions.

The total decrease in 2012 as compared to 2007 is 123.7 million, averaging approximately 25 million per year over the five-year period.

With respect to rate base in nuclear facilities, it's expected to increase by $490.6 million, about 14.3 percent in 2010, compared to 2009 -- sorry, 2010, compared to 2009, primarily as a result of the impact of the net increase in the asset retirement costs recorded on January 1, 2010.

This change results from OPG's decision to proceed with the definition phase of the Darlington refurbishment project, which I'll talk about further in the context of new initiatives.

There are a number of impacts arising as a result of the decision on the Darlington refurbishment, including reduction and depreciation expense, but the net effect of these various impacts is a reduction in revenue requirement over the test period of approximately $200 million as a result of the decision to proceed to the definition phase of the Darlington refurbishment.

The rate base for the nuclear facilities is really largely stable over the 2010-2012 period.  There would be a decrease in the rate base resulting from depreciation and amortization exceeding the in-service additions of fixed and intangible assets, but it's generally offset by the effect of the growth of construction work-in-progress, CWIP, for the Darlington refurbishment project.

OPG proposes to include the Darlington refurbishment CWIP in rate base as a cost recovery mechanism endorsed by the Board in its report on regulatory treatment of infrastructure investment in 09-0152.

With respect to cost of capital, OPG has applied the capital structure of 47 percent equity, 53 percent DAT approved by the OEB in 07-0905, and the OPG has applied the ROE of 9.85 percent set by the OEB for use in 2010 cost of service applications in the OEB's letter of February 24, 2010.

One of the directives coming out of the 07-0905 case was to examine the issue of separate cost of capital for its nuclear and regulated hydroelectric facilities.  OPG, as I've indicated, has responded to that direction and done so by retaining Foster & Associates to examine potential methodologies to develop technology-specific cost of capital.

Foster's report, which is filed in evidence in this proceeding, concludes that none of the cost of capital methodologies examined yield a robust and analytically sound basis for specifying technology-specific cost of capital, and as a result OPG continues to support a single cost of capital for its prescribed assets.

On the second component of the application, the recovery of variance and deferral account balances.  As I've noted earlier, we're requesting test period payment riders for regulated Hydro production and nuclear production to amortize balances forecast as of December 31, 2010.  OPG will provide additional information with respect to the balances in this proceeding and plans to do so by the end of the week with respect to where the forecasts currently sit.

For hydroelectric, the forecast balance that was filed in the application is a refund of 45.8 million.  For nuclear, OPG seeks to recovery from ratepayers 692.5 million.  Of the nuclear balance, 412.8 million is attributable to the tax loss variance account.

The OEB established the tax loss variance account effective as of April 1, 2008, and it records any variance between the tax loss mitigation amount that underpins its decision and order in 2007-0905 and the tax the tax loss amount resulting from the reanalysis of prior period tax returns based upon the OEB's directions in the 07-0905 decision.

The OPG proposes to recover the balances in all variance and deferral accounts except for the tax loss variance account, over a period from March 1, 2011, to December 31, 2012.

To reduce the customer impact of recovery of large balance of the tax loss variance account, OPG proposes to recover the balance in this account over the 46-month period from March 1, 2011 to December 31, 2014.

The last component being new initiatives.  In June 2006, the Ontario Government directed OPG to take -- undertake feasibility studies on refurbishing its existing nuclear units.  In November of 2009, the OPG board of directors approved proceeding to the definition phase of the Darlington refurbishment project, and this project will extend the life of the Darlington station by an additional 30 years.

The province of Ontario indicated its concurrence with this decision in February 2010, and the OPA also indicated its support of the refurbishment project, and their letter can also be found in evidence.

The definition phase is -- activities take place in the test period, and OPG's projecting capital costs of $105.2 million and $255.8 million in 2011 and 2012 respectively, and OM&A costs of 5.9 million and 4.5 million in 2011 and 2012 respectively, with respect to the refurbishment project.

Current estimates, based on preliminary planning and a review of experience in industry from OPG indicate that the cost -- sorry -- the cost and the schedule indicate a high confidence levelled unit energy cost, LUEC, for refurbishment of Darlington to be less than 8 cents a kilowatt-hour in 2009 dollars, and this is considered to be an upper bound.

Also with respect to a new initiative in its January 2010 report and to deal with the Darlington refurbishment for regulatory treatment of infrastructure qua investment, and employing the OEB's report in the case 09-0152, as I've indicated, the OPG will attempt to seek the allowance for CWIP in rate base. And it's proposing to do so for the Darlington project beginning in 2011.

Among the other benefits that this will provide, it will also avoid the rate shock for ratepayers that would be experienced under the traditional regulatory approach of addition to rate base.

OPG is of a view that the OEB should be commended for its openness to regulatory treatment for large infrastructure investments.

As well as, the OPG board of directors approved an initiative to extend the operating life of Pickering B for four years from their current nominal end-of-life of 2011 to 2016 to 2018 to 2020.  This initiative was also endorsed by the province on February 4, 2010, and the OPA on April 1, 2010, and the OPA indicated in its letter that it believes the substantial benefits could potentially arise from the continued operation of Pickering B and supports OPG's decision to proceed with expenditure of funds in the 2010-2012 period.

Those are the three components.  If I could just advise you that OPG did file last week on September 30th an impact statement with the Board to show the impact of three changes since OPG's filed its application in May 2010.

The first change was an increase in regulatory fees for the test period for the CNSC, having an impact of $13 million increase on revenue requirement.  The second change arises from the Public Sector Compensation Restraint Act.  As a result of that legislation, OPG is removing management wage escalation for the period to April 1, 2012 from its test-period revenue requirement for regulated facilities, which is a reduction of $12 million.

The increase in revenue requirement arising from regulatory fees then is largely offset by the decrease in management compensation levels.

The third element of the impact statement relates to pension and OPEB costs -- and for the record, that's O-P-E-B -- which are subject to significant variability to the extent that forecast assumptions, such as discount rates or assumed pension-fund performance, differ from actual values.

Since the beginning of 2010, discount rates have declined significantly.  Pension costs forecasts are based on assumed rates return on the pension-fund assets of 9 percent in 2009 and 7 percent in 2010.  The actual return in 2009 was 15 percent, but the actual return in 2010 at the end of August is approximately 2.5 percent.

As a result of these changes, OPG has updated the total pension and OPEB costs for 2011 and 2012, and have projected the -- which have been projected by external actuaries as of the end of August 2010.

Given the potential significant variability between the updated forecasts and the actual pension and OPEB costs, OPG is proposing to revise its proposed payment amounts or payment riders to address the projected increase in these costs.

Now, the impact statement was filed last week.  I'm not sure whether or not that had been provided to the Panel, and as a result -- it has.  Okay.  Thank you.

Instead, OPG proposes to -- instead of passing these through into revenue requirement, OPG proposes to address the forecast change to pension and OPEB costs by requesting that the OEB establish a variance account to record the revenue requirement impact of differences between forecast and actual pension and OPEB costs for the 2012 -- sorry, 2011-2012 test period.  OPG would bring the balance in this account forward for disposition during its next payment-amounts application.

So in conclusion, fundamentally, this case is about the evaluation of the costs and revenues arising from the operation of OPG's prescribed assets, and a fair return on those assets to establish a rate that's just and reasonable.

OPG is a large corporation.  It has many employees, which operate, you know, and maintain very sophisticated and intricate facilities.  But I think what's important is what underlies OPG's application, is the fact that, notwithstanding the challenges that OPG has of being a corporation of the nature and size that it is, that OPG has begun to take on significant strides to find efficiencies, and lower cost and stay true to the priority of providing a safe, reliable, and effective cost effect -- supply of electricity.

The case is not, as some parties will propose, about evaluating OPG's regulated costs and revenues or establishing required payment amounts relative to charges such as global adjustments, HST, transmission and distribution rates that are established independent of OPG's business operations and section 78(1) of the Act.

This is, in OPG's view, not a forum designed to adjudicate public policy, it's a forum to establish rates and charges based upon the application before you.

Subject, I guess, to two other matters I'd like to bring to your attention before I conclude my remarks, the first is, is that I guess it's obviously very clear to everybody there is a lot of confidential information that has been filed in this proceeding, and we will do our best to work with parties within the room to carry forward cross-examination so we can coordinate the use of that confidential information, and hopefully we'll all be able to stay vigilant with respect to the nature of that information.

The other is, as I indicated when I gave my appearance this morning on behalf of parties related to OPG, Mr. Crawford Smith is co-counsel on this case, and we will be splitting up the panels for OPG.  There is approximately -- I guess there are ten OPG panels.  This morning Mr. Smith will be counsel dealing with the hydroelectric panel.  I will be responsible for those panels relating to the nuclear side of the business.  And then we have a split related to some of the financial panels.  So you will see us coming and going through various point in time in the proceeding.

And that having been said, subject to any questions, those are my opening remarks.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  I'll turn it over to Mr. Smith.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Members of the Panel.  We have (inaudible).

Members of the Panel, we do have with us the first panel.  It's the hydroelectric panel.  Perhaps I can introduce them and then we can have them sworn.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.

MR. SMITH:  Immediately to my left is Dave Peterson.  To his left is Joan Frain.  To her left is Mario Mazza, and then at the end of the panel nearest to you is Mark Shea.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 1
^
Mark Shea; Sworn.


Mario Mazza; Sworn.


Joan Frain; Sworn.

David Peterson; Sworn.


MR. SMITH:  Perhaps, before we begin, Members of the Panel, I can draw your attention to two places in the evidence which might be of assistance to you as you proceed through the case.  Those are Exhibit A1, tab 9, and schedule 1, at which OPG has set out the various panels it intends to call, the witnesses it intends to call in support of those panels, and the evidence that those witnesses will be responsible for.  And so you'll have there a collection of the various parts of the pre-filed evidence that the panels will be addressing, as well as the interrogatories that the panels responded to.

You also have at Exhibit A-1, tab 9, schedule 2 the curriculum vitae of the various witnesses OPG will be calling.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  So perhaps I'll begin with Mr. Peterson.

Mr. Peterson, I understand that you are the manager of market monitoring?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that you have been with OPG or Ontario Hydro since 1986?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have been in your present position as manager of market monitoring since 2008?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I understand that as the manager of market monitoring your responsibilities include providing expertise on IESO Market Rules and insight on rules development?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  You are also --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Just a minute, sorry. Mr. Peterson, is your microphone on?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, it is.

MS. CHAPLIN:  It is?  Okay.  Could you perhaps make sure it's towards you and -- thank you.

MR. SMITH:  ...that you are responsible for energy markets after the fact analysis.

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you are equally responsible for providing advice and insight to OPG's senior management on market-related issues?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And Mr. Shea, were you -- sorry, Mr. Peterson, were you involved in the preparation of the evidence in relation to OPG's regulated hydroelectric business and energy markets?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purpose of this proceeding?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And equally, sir, were you responsible or involved in the preparation of responses to interrogatories prepared in respect of that prefiled evidence?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  And you adopt the answers to those interrogatories as part of your evidence.

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH: Before this panel -- before this Board.

Ms. Frain, I understand that you hold the position of manager, water policy and planning, business services and water resources division.

MS. FRAIN:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have a Bachelor of Applied Science in civil engineering from the University of Waterloo.

MS. FRAIN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you have been with Ontario Power Generation or with Ontario Hydro since 1982; is that correct?

MS. FRAIN:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you have been in your present position since 2000.

MS. FRAIN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And in your position as manager water policy and planning, I understand your responsibilities to include the negotiation of water and land agreements with governments, other generators and stakeholders.

MS. FRAIN:  Yes, correct.

MR. SMITH:  You are also responsible, among other things, for the hydroelectric energy and capacity forecast.

MS. FRAIN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you are also responsible for the regulated site variance report.

MS. FRAIN:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And as with Mr. Peterson, were you involved in the preparation of the prefiled evidence in respect of Ontario -- in respect of OPG's hydroelectric business?

MS. FRAIN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you adopt that evidence for the purposes of this proceeding.

MS. FRAIN:  I do.

MR. SMITH:  And equally, were you involved in the responses to interrogatories prepared in respect of the prefiled evidence?

MS. FRAIN:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  And you adopt those responses to interrogatories for the purposes of this proceeding?

MS. FRAIN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Mazza, I understand that you hold the position of director business support and regulatory affairs for the hydro business units.

MR. MAZZA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you hold a Bachelor of Applied Science in civil engineering from the University of Toronto.

MR. MAZZA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have been with OPG or Ontario Hydro since 1979.

MR. MAZZA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have held your current position since 2005.

MR. MAZZA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And as the director business support and regulatory affairs, I understand that you are responsible for the preparation of the hydro business plan and annual budget?

MR. MAZZA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  You are responsible as well, as I understand it, for performance reporting and IT infrastructure support.

MR. MAZZA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  You are also responsible for regulatory support.

MR. MAZZA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  The development of a hydro annual incentive plan.

MR. MAZZA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  Hydro records and document management.

MR. MAZZA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And project management governance and oversight.

MR. MAZZA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And were you involved in the preparation of the prefiled evidence in respect of OPG's regulated hydroelectric business?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence, sir, for the purposes of this proceeding?

MR. MAZZA:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And were you involved in the preparation of response to various interrogatories asked in respect of that prefiled evidence?

MR. MAZZA:  I was.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt do those responses to those interrogatories for the purposes of testifying before the Board today?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Finally, Mr. Shea, I understand that you are the asset and technical services manager of the Ottawa-St. Lawrence plant group.

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have a Bachelor of Engineering in mechanical engineering from McGill University.

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have been with OPG or Ontario Hydro since 1982.

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you have held your position as asset and technical services manager since 2002.

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I understand that your responsibilities as asset and technical services manager to include the preparation of the plant group business plan.

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you are responsible for managing plant group assets.

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And for providing engineering support and engineering oversight.

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And you are also responsible for providing plant group's single point of contact for IT and telecommunications.

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And were you involved, sir, in the preparation of OPG's prefiled evidence in respect of its hydroelectric business?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of this proceeding?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And were you involved in the preparation of responses to various interrogatories asked in respect of that evidence?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, I was.

MR. SMITH:  And equally, do you adopt that evidence?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:   Thank you.  Members of the panel, I have no examination-in-chief for this panel, and so I would tender them for cross-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  And I do have a planned order of cross-examination, with time estimates, so I thank everyone for that.  Mr. Buonaguro, I believe you're going first?  You are trying to get to the other side of the country, I understand?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, first I have to get to the other side of the room for Hydro One panel later this afternoon, or sorry, later this morning.  And then I'm flying to the Yukon for a hearing, which I hope everybody takes pity on me for.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, panel.  So I've slotted myself in quickly at the beginning here, so I have questions on only two discrete issues, the hydroelectric incentive mechanism, and as well the forecast amounts for the segregated mode of operations and water transactions  revenues.  I suspect my cross will be probably shorter than the recitation of your qualifications to give evidence on this particular case.  So it's a nice way for you to start, I think.

 So I'm going to start with the hydroelectric incentive mechanism.  And one last thing before I start:  You'll forgive me and hopefully others if we mistakenly refer to you as Hydro One, since we're bouncing back and forth in this particular hearing.  I think it's already happened once, and it wasn't me.

 So, starting with the hydroelectric incentive mechanism, the evidence is, and the cite would be Exhibit E, tab 1 -- sorry, Exhibit E1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 3.

 The evidence is that OPG received $23.2 million in 2009 hydroelectric incentive mechanism payments.

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's the actual amount so that's versus a forecast amount of $12 million.

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which means that the forecast amount was just, I believe, just over half of the actual amount for 2009.

MR. PETERSON:  Roughly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, had the actual amount in 2009 turned out to match or roughly match the forecast amount for 2009, do you think there would have been any change in OPG's Hydro operations in 2009?  I.e., does the variance between the forecast and the actual, would that have impacted on your operations throughout 2009?

MR. PETERSON:  I don't believe so.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding is that you're forecasting the payments to be approximately $13.3 million in 2011 and $16.3 million in 2012?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me, is there an a priori forecast for 2010, and a current updated forecast for 2010, for the hydroelectric incentive mechanism payments?

MR. PETERSON:  Sorry, the question was?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, since there was no rate hearing for 2010, presumably we haven't seen, at least I haven't seen, your forecasts for 2010 before 2010 started.  So do you have that?  And then do you have an updated forecast, just to check to the variance between what you would have thought happened in 2010 and what's actually happened in 2010.

MR. PETERSON:  I'm not aware of a forecast for 2010.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I take that to mean that you generally do the forecasts -- or you did the forecast for the last rate hearing and you did a forecast for this rate hearing, but since there was no rate hearing relevant to 2010, you didn't do a forecast.  Is it that simple?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I believe so.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Do you have -- well, do you have an update for what's happened in 2010?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.  Actually, I do.  Our year-to-date total is $11 million.  And that's as of the end of August.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.  Now, would you agree that it's possible that the forecasts for 2010, 2011, and 2012, well, I guess in this case for 2011 and 2012, might also turn out to be about half of the actual payments to OPG in those years?  I.e., is there a possibility that the variance between your forecast and your actual will be about the same as it was in 2009?

MR. PETERSON:  I don't think you can infer that relationship between the forecast and the actual.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't think I was necessarily inferring a necessary relationship, but is it possible?  Is there -- that type of variability possible?

MR. PETERSON:  I wouldn't necessarily expect that the variability would be that great.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree that there's some variability?

MR. PETERSON:  There's always a possibility of variability.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, would you agree generally that peak or on-peak prices are greater than off-peak prices?

MR. PETERSON:  Normally speaking, yes, on-peak prices would be greater than off-peak prices.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And would you then agree that the on-peak periods are higher-value periods than off-peak periods, generally speaking, with respect to...?

MR. PETERSON:  The on-peak periods are generally higher-value, in that the prices are higher, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, here's a somewhat obvious question.  Presumably all of the prescribed hydroelectric facilities are in OPG's rate base?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, they are.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And would you describe the hydroelectric generation facilities as base load facilities or peak load facilities, generally speaking?

MR. PETERSON:  Some of the facilities are what you would term as base hydroelectric, the exception being probably the PGS, which is -- has the greatest peaking capability and the accompanying peaking capability at the Beck station.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Could you just for the record tell me what the PGS stands for?

MR. PETERSON:  Sorry, pump generating station.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And so aside from the PGS, though, most of the actual hydroelectric generation facilities are base load facilities?  That's my understanding.

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And whether or not the company earns a hydroelectric mechanism payment for anything it does, that doesn't change that characterization as a base load generating facility?

MR. PETERSON:  No, I don't think the nature of the facilities would change.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

To your knowledge, does anybody outside of OPG design, build, and operate hydroelectric facilities solely for providing peaking service?  And I'm not talking about the PGS type facilities, but rather your basic hydroelectric facilities that you have.

MR. PETERSON:  Sorry, you're asking if there's other participants in Ontario that have peaking capabilities?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, just generally, I guess I'm trying to get to the answer.
Generally speaking, those are not built just to serve peak.  Like, your basic hydroelectric facility is not a -- never built to serve peak, it's built to serve base load.

MR. PETERSON:  A hydroelectric facility?  It depends on the river system.  Some are built solely for peaking capabilities.  Some are built more in terms of base load facilities.  It largely depends on the river system.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, turning to the PGS, I guess the pump generation systems that you've mentioned before, my understanding of the operation is that they are designed to pump water during the off-peak period and then, when the opportunity cost for generation was lower, and flow the pumped water back down during periods when the price is higher.  Is that generally how it works?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.  You said that it's for off-peak periods.  It generates low-value periods, would be a better way to state it, to pump during low-value periods and to generate during high-value periods.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And that's their raison d'être, if I could put it...

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That's my first French quote in a rate proceeding.  I'm very happy with that.

Now, I'm going to ask you just a couple of questions about a tech conference that was held on August 26, 2010, and the way the transcript worked on the tech conference, I have to cite the actual question in a separate document and then cite the response that happened at the actual tech conference.

So it was VECC tech conference Question No. 9, part (f).  And the question was:
"Please confirm that the total payments received under the hydroelectric incentive mechanism are also given by the formula:  Total payment equals megawatts average times (regulated rate minus MCP)..."

Which stands for market clearing price:
"...plus megawatt-hours times MCP."


Market clearing price again.  Do you recall that question from the tech conference?

MR. PETERSON:  I do recall the question.  I'm just trying to find it in the transcript.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yeah, I can -- and the transcript answer was at page 35.

MR. PETERSON:  35?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yeah.  And this is why it has to be done this way, because I think we ran through the questions -- or the questions were run through, and the answer was through your counsel, Mr. Smith:
"Part (f) again asks for confirmation in relation to a formula, and can we confirm that, Mr. Peterson?"


And then Mr. Peterson:
"I can confirm that, yes."

And that's from page 35 of the transcript.

So essentially, you confirmed that that formula is correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I did.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, looking at the formula, which is a rearrangement of the formula that's provided in the evidence in respect of the hydroelectric incentive mechanism, would you agree that, all else equal, an increase in the regulated rate will increase the total payment?

MR. PETERSON:  Sorry, could you repeat that question?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  All things being equal, or all else being equal, an increase in the regulated rate, which is part of the formula, will increase the total payment?  If the regulated rate goes up, the payment you'll receive goes up, based on how this formula operates?

MR. PETERSON:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, I'm going to turn to VECC IR No. 37, which is L14-37.

MR. PETERSON:  I have it here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And at part (b), the question was:
"Please provide OPG's expectations as to the relationship between the regulated rate and the MCP over the test period."

And then part (c), it also said:
"Please confirm that, all else equal, an increase in the regulated rate will increase the hydroelectric incentive mechanism."

So that's parts (b) and (c), the questions.  And at Part (b), the answer was:
"There is no relationship between the regulated rate and the HOEP, or hourly Ontario energy price."

And at part (c), it said:
"There is no relationship between the regulated rate and the hydroelectric incentive mechanism incremental market revenues."

So my question is, can you reconcile what we just went through, in terms of how the formula operates in relation to increases in the regular price, increase in the incentive payment, and these answers here?  Because presumably you must have maybe misunderstood what we were asking.

MR. PETERSON:  No, I don't believe we did.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So can you reconcile the two?

MR. PETERSON:  Well, there is no relationship between the regulated rate.  The regulated rate would be set by the Board, and HOEP is a function of how the market operates, so there is no relationship between the two.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But in terms of the part (c), the relationship between the regulated rate and the hydroelectric incentive mechanism, I think you just agreed that if the regulated rate goes up, the incentive mechanism revenue goes up.

MR. PETERSON:  That component of the formula, where you say that the regulated rate -- that component of the formula would increase the amount that OPG receives, but it doesn't increase the amount that you would receive under the incentive mechanism, which is the second component of the formula.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you explain that for me in a little more detail?

MR. PETERSON:  Well, I'm more probably comfortable working with the original formulation of the --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  If that's what you have to do, that's fine.

MR. PETERSON:  The amount that OPG receives under the incentive mechanism is -- as you know, the hourly average amount is determined at the end of the month times the regulated rate.  So in each and every hour, OPG receives the regulated rate times the hourly average production, as determined at the end of the month.

The incentive mechanism itself is a function of the difference between how much we produce in any given hour and what the average was for that hour times the MCP.  So that amount can either be a revenue to OPG or a cost to OPG.  That's essentially the second term of the formula.  If you were producing less than the hourly average, you would be buying from the market, notionally.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So on that basis you are maintaining -- and I say "maintaining" only because I'm not a 100 percent sure I understand, but I have your answer on the record -- but you're saying that, all else being equal, if the regulated rate goes up, it's not necessarily true that the amount that you would recover under the incentive mechanism would go up.

MR. PETERSON:  Oh, that's definitely true.  We would not necessarily increase the incentive mechanism should the regulated rate go up.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Now, I distributed by e-mail, somewhat late last night, and I have to apologize, a document for this panel to review.  It is entitled:  "The 2011/2012 regulated facilities payment amounts:  Stakeholder information session number 1, held on March 29, 2010."

I circulated the entire document but pointed out that we were only interested for the purposes of this panel at least, on three pages, pages 10, 11, and 12, and specifically the sections that refer to the hydroelectric incentive mechanism.  Have you been able to -- I think I'm speaking to you Mr. Peterson in particular, were you able to get a chance to review that before today?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I have it here with me.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Buonaguro, we have copies and I'd suggest we mark it as an exhibit.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That would be Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED THE 2011/2012 REGULATED FACILITIES PAYMENT AMOUNTS:  STAKEHOLDER INFORMATION SESSION NUMBER 1, HELD ON MARCH 29, 2010

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the part I'm most interested, to tell you the truth, is on page 12.  And it's, I guess, bullet point number 4 from the top of the page.  And I'll just read it for the record.
"The new HIM resulted from the last hearing in response to a question about whether it has caused a significant change in the way that OPG manages these on-peak off-peak adjustments, Peterson admitted that  the off-peak changes are more incremental but that it does provide clear drivers to influence OPG actions.  Peterson felt that OPG would still try to manage those benefits if there was no incentive."

Now, I just wanted to explore that a little bit with you.  My understanding from that, and you can tell me if this is fair, is that the way in which the incentive mechanism operates helps OPG identify what it should do operationally to maximize benefits, quite apart from the incentive that you receive under that formula.  Is that fair?

MR. PETERSON:  I'm not sure I understand the question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me put a hypothetical to you.  Let's say that the Board were to tell you, as part of this hearing, that you're no longer going to receive an incentive payment but that you should operate as though you were, using this formula, to the extent that this formula drives your operations.  That's something that OPG could do; correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And in terms of the pump generation capabilities of the company, can you tell me, is there anything else that you would do in the absence of a hydroelectric incentive mechanism with those facilities?

MR. PETERSON:  I think you have to recognize that the incentive mechanism provides us with a good, clear driver on which to base our decisions, our economic pump and generate decisions.

Absent that type of a driver, you would likely operate incrementally less because of the risk associated with it.

The incentive mechanism has -- allows you to take somewhat more risk and be somewhat more aggressive.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And can you describe to me what you mean by the risk that you would be taking on and therefore not willing to take on if you didn't receive an incentive?

MR. PETERSON:  Certainly.  When you forecast the difference between a low period and off-peak period and on-peak period, there's always a risk that you get it wrong.  And if you get it wrong, you actually lose money.  And that does occur under the operation of the incentive mechanism.  There are time periods when OPG actually loses.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Over the course of the year, you would agree with me that so far, on the yearly basis, there's been no loss.  In fact there have been revenues in excess of forecast; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.  But there are, in more isolated time periods, as you -- there are times when you lose, or make minimal amounts of money.

MR. BUONAGURO:  True, but so far they've netted out to a profit?

MR. PETERSON:  To date they have.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Peterson, I just wanted to make sure I understand what you're saying.  I had understood you to say that OPG would be less likely to take on the risk if it didn't have the incentive.  But the risk is because of the incentive.  If there wasn't an incentive, then you wouldn't have that situation where you would be paying the money, would you?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, because of the ... because of the costs incurred in the operation of the cycle from pump to generate, there are a number of costs and efficiency losses that occur.

So if you don't have -- if you can't receive an incentive or recover those costs, then you're in a loss position.  There is a significant amount of cost associated and losses associated with the cycling.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But if the Board were to put the ratepayer in the position of bearing the risk of those costs, would you agree that there would be no disincentive to OPG to operate as it has over the last two years or three years without an incentive?

MR. PETERSON:  If you were to expose the ratepayer to the risk associated?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I mean, so far, and I don't mean to be glib, but so far the risk is of earning up to $23 million a year in incentive.  That is the risk that I've seen manifest itself over the last few years, at least in 2009.

MR. PETERSON:  I think when you look at the risks and the payment or the incentive that we get from the incentive mechanism, there's a residual ratepayer benefit that's incurred from a cycling of it on a proper basis.  And I think that at that benefit is -- the benefit to the ratepayer outweighs the incentive to OPG.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  I'll leave it at that.  Thank you.

Now I'm going turn briefly to segregated mode of operations and water transactions.  And the interrogatory I'd like you to look at for this would be VECC No. 26, which is L14-26.  Oh, sorry, that's issue number 7.1.

MR. PETERSON:  I have that here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  This yours as well, Mr. Peterson?

MR. PETERSON:  Parts of it are mine.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So we asked -- this is a VECC interrogatory, and we asked for the table that appeared on -- sorry, table 1 from Exhibit G1, tab 1, S1, to be redone, and you can see on the exhibit you've added two columns to the table which, for segregated mode of operations and water transactions, calculates what the forecasts would be for the test years based on the Board's existing methodology for OPG for those two types of revenue; correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, before I move on, I noticed -- I didn't ask anything about ancillary services, and I understand that ancillary services are subject to a variance account, in any event, or at least have been and you are proposing continues to be subject to a variance account?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But I did notice that there seemed to be an update on the 2012 forecast as a result of my interrogatory, it seems, from a planned amount for 2012 of 39.5, to a planned amount of 38.3 for 2012.  Can you explain how that happened in this table?

MR. PETERSON:  Sorry, what was the second amount?

MR. BUONAGURO:  The original as filed amount for ancillary services is 39.5 million, and as a result of this interrogatory, it seems to have gone down to 38.3.  I think.  Even I can't see this on my screen.  Yeah, it’s 38.3.

This is more for interest because I hadn't asked about ancillary services specifically, and I understand that it's subject to a variance account, but I wanted to know or get an explanation for why that changed as well.

MR. PETERSON:  I'm sorry, I don't know the answer to that question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I'm not even going to ask you for an undertaking, because it is subject to a variance account in any event.  Okay.  Thank you.

But for segregated mode of operations and water transactions, my understanding from the interrogatory response in the evidence is that -- sorry, is that the difference is that the company is proposing to discard the old methodology, which takes the three previous known year-actuals and averages them on a go-forward basis for the test period, and instead specifically forecasts based on what you believed to be the case in the upcoming years, a more specific forecast of what the actual was going to be.  Is that a fair characterization?

MR. PETERSON:  I think we've referred to it in evidence.  I think we believe that the -- due to significant changes in the operation of seg mode and other factors as they relate to water transactions, that a one-year period would be more indicative of what's going to happen going forward.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So looking at the table and looking at the differences between what your application forecasts for the two -- well, we'll start with segregated mode of operation.  The difference between the 1.5 and 1.6 in the test years that you're requesting as a forecast amount and the 7.2 in both 2011 and 2012 that the old -- or I would call it the current methodology would provide for, the difference is driven by presumably largely the 2008 actual of $13.7 million that was earned in actual amounts?

MR. PETERSON:  Let me just check the reference in the evidence.  I believe the amount that's in the evidence for the forecast was based on the last six months of 2009, extrapolated to a full year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I could add to that.  Whereas the current methodology takes into account the -- looking at the table, the 2008 actual of $13.7 million and the 2007 actual of $4.4 million as well, plus the first half of 2009, that's the difference between your methodology proposed versus the current methodology, which has been added to the table?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And then, going forward, I just wanted to test this with you.  Let's say hypothetically that your forecast is dead on, that the 1.5- and $1.6 million that you're forecasting for the 2011 and 2012 periods were dead on, but you were still under the old methodology.  Those figures would influence the years coming, so 2013, 2014, 2015.  The forecasts for those years, assuming the methodology continued throughout time, would be affected by those relatively low numbers.

MR. PETERSON:  If you continue to forecast on a three-year average basis, yes, that would factor in.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And so over time the forecast would reflect actuals.  It's just not matching when those actuals happened.  That's how the rolling three-year average works.

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.  But I think we believed that there was a significant change.  Particularly in the case of SMO, there has been a factor that's quite a significant change in the way that that -- specifically, the Hydro Quebec high-voltage DC tie line has changed the way that SMO transactions -- or the number of transactions that are done.

So based on that significant change, we felt it was more appropriate to provide a forecast based on our experience, which in more recent experience -- in fact, I have a full year's worth of data now from SMO transactions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You're inviting me to ask you to provide it?  You can provide it if you would like.  That's fine.

MR. PETERSON:  A full year from -- to the end of August of 2010, we're in a loss position of close to $1 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, a loss?  How is that?

MR. PETERSON:  A loss.  Negative.

MR. BUONAGURO:  How does that happen?

MR. PETERSON:  How does that happen?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yeah.

MR. PETERSON:  As we've stated in our evidence, there are certain risks associated with conducting transactions which can lead to loss positions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  And presumably that -- in terms of how the methodology works versus the other methodology, the same holds true for water transactions, although the deviation from your forecast in the application and with the methodology forecast is less?  It's the same sort of operation?

MR. PETERSON:  In terms of forecasting?  We're proposing to use the one-year 2009 actual as a basis for forecasting.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

Mr. Millar, I believe you're going next.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I have questions in four areas:  The Saunders visitors centre; the Hydro production forecast; the Hydro incentive mechanism, though some of that has covered by Mr. Buonaguro; and the IESO non-energy charges.

Madam Chair, we're at about 20 to 11:00, quarter to 11:00.  What time would you be looking to take a break?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Around eleven o'clock.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I'll see where I am after one or two of these subjects, and hopefully it will be around 11:00.

I would like to start with some questions -- oh, I'm sorry, I should also say, Staff has circulated a booklet of exhibits.  These are all exhibits that are in the pre-filed application or the interrogatory responses.  I have circulated it to my friends here, and I have copies for the Panel.  And presuming there are no objections, I'd propose to call that Exhibit K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  BOOKLET OF EXHIBITS.

MR. MILLAR:  And again, these are all documents you will have seen.  In fact, I think they have all been prepared by OPG.  This is just a convenient way to go through the exhibits, I think.

So I would like to start with some questions about the Saunders visitors centre.  Who would I direct those questions to?

MR. SHEA:  That would be me.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Shea?  Okay.  Perhaps a good place to start would be page 1 of the exhibit book, which is an exhibit from the pre-filed application, Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2, table 2.  And this is a listing of certain capital projects.  And if you look down the list at number 9, we see the St. Lawrence Power Development Visitors Centre?

MR. SHEA:  Just for clarity, is that table 1 or table 2, please?

MR. MILLAR:  It's table 1.  I'm sorry.

MR. SHEA:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  And do you see at line 9 the visitors centre?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, I see it.

MR. MILLAR:  And the amounts that are closing to rate base for 2010 are $12 million; is that correct?

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you were asked in the technical conference what the annual revenue requirement impacts of the visitors centre was, and I haven't provided an excerpt from that, but can you confirm that it's approximately $3.5 million per year?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And can you also confirm that this project was not part of your previous payments application?

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You hadn't sought pre-approval?

MR. SHEA:  It was not part of the last rate application.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  What's the purpose of the visitors centre?

MR. SHEA:  The purpose of the visitors centre is laid out in the business case summary that's included in the evidence.  And there is also a reference in Interrogatory L-1-18 where it speaks to its purpose, in terms of maintaining relations with the host community and promoting clean, reliable hydroelectric power in the province of Ontario.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I'm going to take you to those documents.  So why don't we start with the business case summary.  I have provided a copy of that in our booklet of exhibits, and you'll see it at page -- I believe it starts at page 3, but I'd like to go to page -- I'm sorry, if you go to page 11.  That's the page I want from the business case summary.  It actually starts at page 10, but I'm looking at page 11.  And when I give the page numbers, I'm referring to the handwritten numbers in the corners.

MR. SHEA:  Yes, I have that.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  So this is the business case summary for the visitors centre?

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if I look down at the fourth paragraph -- and I'll read that out:
"Construction of a centre will provide a venue near OPG's second-largest hydroelectric generating station to tell the hydroelectric story and maintain improved public acceptance of the station and its continued operation.  It will also promote OPG's corporate brand and image with respect to all of OPG's generation types and would serve to educate students and the public about the operations and benefits of power generation, with the main focus on hydroelectric power."

Have I read that correctly?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, you have.

MR. MILLAR:  Is it fair to say that is the business case summary rationale behind the project?

MR. SHEA:  That is a portion of it, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Is there another portion?

MR. SHEA:  There -- well, as you can see from that page, there's an entire page of background and issues, and certainly that is the thrust of it.

MR. MILLAR:  I had seen mentioned in the pre-filed evidence, and I believe in a speech from Mr. Murphy that I'll get to in a moment, raise safety issues, water-safety issues?  Is that one of the purposes of the visitors centre?

MR. SHEA:  One of the purposes is to promote our water-safety program.

MR. MILLAR:  And what is that?  That's to ensure that -- well, why don't you tell me?  What is the water-safety program?

MR. SHEA:  Because hydroelectric facilities are in the middle of a river, they're literally in the middle of a river, and oftentimes the public would like to have access to the river, there can be public interaction between our facilities, and as they are industrial establishments, we have programs in place to keep the public away from our facilities and keep them safe.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  That's not mentioned in the business case summary; is that correct?

MR. SHEA:  I believe it is, if you just give me a moment, I'll find it.

I agree with you that it's not specifically mentioned in the business case summary.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And this would have been the document that the powers that be at OPG reviewed in approving this project; is that correct?

MR. SHEA:  This is the financial approval document, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And just before I proceed any further, can you confirm for me that the actual operation of the Saunders generation station is not impacted by this project?

MR. SHEA:  Perhaps you could be more specific in terms of, what do you mean by affected by it?

MR. MILLAR:  This won't assist you in producing additional power?

MR. SHEA:  It assists us in that, you know, the facility is right in the city of Cornwall, and our relationship with the city of Cornwall and the surrounding areas is important, and the ongoing operation of the facility is dependent on our relationships somewhat with the city of Cornwall.

MR. MILLAR:  But this wouldn't include any physical upgrades to the generating station itself?

MR. SHEA:  No, the facility is physically separate from the dam and associated structures.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'd like to talk a bit more about the rationale behind the project.  I have included, starting at page 3 of Staff's exhibit book, but I want to take you to page 8, this is a speech from a Mr. Murphy, who I understand is or at least was the executive vice-president of hydro for OPG; is that correct?

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And this appears to be a speech he gave in Cornwall.

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you turn to page 8 of our exhibit book, which is page 6 of the speech -- and just to confirm where this came from, this speech was an attachment to an interrogatory response, so it is on the record in this case.

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And it was a response to, I think it's Energy Probe 24.  Just in case anyone wanted to check back to the original record.

So if you look at, again, page 8 of Staff's booklet, he talks about the visitor centre; is that right?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, he does make reference to it.

MR. MILLAR:  And he describes a number of rationales behind it.  He speaks of a -- I don't propose to read it verbatim, but would you agree with me he talks about it reinforcing the strong commitment OPG has to Cornwall; is that correct?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And it will be telling the Saunders and the OPG story?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And to showcase the historical contribution hydroelectric power has made in Ontario?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then he also mentions safety initiatives?  If you look down the penultimate paragraph on this page?

MR. SHEA:  Yes.  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then he describes that he believes it will attract tourists to the region; is that correct?

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Did any of the other stakeholders involved with the visitor centre make any monetary contribution to the visitor's centre?

MR. SHEA:  No, they did not.

MR. MILLAR:  So it's paid for entirely by OPG?

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And were any of the costs allocated to the non-regulated side of the business?


MR. SHEA:  No, they were not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Let's discuss the safety element a little bit further.

First of all, I understand the centre is open; is that correct?

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And opened in August?

MR. SHEA:  That's correct.  August of this year.

MR. MILLAR:  And I haven't been there -- have you been there?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, I have.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Can you describe for me how water safety issues are addressed at the visitor centre?

MR. SHEA:  There are specific exhibits.  And, you know, the -- it describes not only how the St. Lawrence Seaway was built and where the Saunders generating station fits into that, but it speaks to the water safety message in terms of public safety, as we referred to earlier.  And basically, it speaks our water safety message which you'll see in the media, and it's on our website, and it reinforces that message in anticipation, in particular, of school children coming to visit the centre and reinforcing that message, which is part of the curriculum for Ontario schools.

MR. MILLAR:  So this would be one of the exhibits at the centre?

MR. SHEA:  There's a section, there's a section of one exhibit that deals specifically with water safety.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Without getting into percentages or anything like that, can you tell me approximately what portion of the visitor centre would be devoted to water safety type issues?  Is it a -- sounds like a relatively small element; is that fair to say?

MR. SHEA:  It would be an exhibit the size of the front of this room.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. SHEA:  As a matter of for instance.

MR. MILLAR:  And how big is the building?

MR. SHEA:  It's approximately 13,000 square feet.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Shea, you referred to the school curriculum in water safety.  So is this exhibit around water safety generally, including a component related to activities around hydroelectric facilities?

MR. SHEA:  It deals specifically with water safety around hydroelectric facilities.

MS. CHAPLIN:  It is, okay.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand that OPG had a -- previously had a different visitor centre, not at that location but I think at the actual generating site, that closed in 1992; is that correct?

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So we're getting on 20 years ago.  And I also just confirm with you that this wasn't part of the previous payments application.  Can you tell me if something happened over the last couple of years that pushed this project into sort of a priority position?

MR. SHEA:  This has been building for a number of years, and I believe that the thing that may have pushed it to fruition was the speech from John Murphy that you've already referred to.  That speaks to our ongoing relationship with the city of Cornwall.

MR. MILLAR:  You also mention that in your response to an Energy Probe interrogatory.  This is at page 2 of Staff's booklet.  It's Energy Probe IR24 relating to issue number 4.2.  And I think in reference to their question C, you state that -- the question relates to a possible decline in community support.  It states:

"The recent community issues centre around the fact that OPG does not pay municipal taxes to the city of Cornwall."

And then it references that speech.

So is this -- is the purpose of this plant, at least to some extent, to sort of build some good will with the city of Cornwall.

MR. SHEA:  That's a portion of it, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And this -- I take it that there have been some strains with the local community relating to taxation issues?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, there have.  And that's referenced in the John Murphy’s speech that you've already brought up.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Okay.  Thank you.  If I could turn to both the classification of this project and the economic justification.  I see, again, if you look back to page 1 of the booklet, line 9 again, this is categorized as a sustaining project; is that correct?

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell me how this fits into that categorization?  How is this a sustaining project?

MR. SHEA:  In order for us to continue to operate the facility, we need to maintain that relationship with the host community.  So in that regard, it sustains our ability to continue to operate that facility in a cost-effective manner, in a safe manner, in an environmentally responsible manner, and yet balance the needs of the community.  And city of Cornwall, and, of course, the Mohawks of Akwesasne.

MR. MILLAR:  I can see that community relations would be important to you, and you would want to, to the extent you can be, have good relations with Cornwall and any aboriginal communities.

Is there anything that Cornwall can do to -- what could Cornwall do, though, if they're not happen with OPG?  Do they have any ability to shut down the facility?

MR. SHEA:  They have the ability to lobby with the provincial government.  There are a number of interactions that take place on a day-to-day basis that can be easier or more difficult, you know, building permits and different interfaces with the community, just in terms of the day-to-day activities.  And those could be either more difficult or less difficult.

MR. MILLAR:  Cornwall doesn't have any say over the actual operation of the plant, though.  Is that fair to say?

MR. SHEA:  When you refer to operation, in terms of starting up generators, shutting them down, running the river, no, that is correct.  They have no direct influence over that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If I can ask you to turn back to the business case summary of -- this would be in particular at page 12 of the Staff book.  This is where you run through certain alternatives and economic analysis.  And I understand there were three alternatives presented; is that correct?

MR. SHEA:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And alternative 2 is the one that you both recommended and the one that you ultimately went with?

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if we look at alternative 2 -- again, that's at page 12, towards the bottom of the page -- you project a cost of $12-1/2 million.  And then I see a net present value -- well, I won't call it a calculation, but a net present value number of just over $17 million?  Is that right?

MR. SHEA:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  We didn't see any analysis that underpinned that number.  Can you help me out?  How did you get to $17 million?

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. SHEA:  Within our financial approval document we typically do not include the detailed financial valuation calculations.  So in this case, that would actually be a negative 17 million.  In other words, we're looking at the least negative alternative.

MR. MILLAR:  Ah.

MR. SHEA:  And the 17 million comes from a combination of the capital costs plus the estimate of the ongoing OM&A costs.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  Okay.  So, I'm sorry, I misstated it.  It's not a benefit of 17 million, it's a negative $17 million.

MR. SHEA:  Correct.  When you have a business case that doesn't have a revenue-producing component, you look for the least negative alternative.

MR. MILLAR:  In situations such as that -- and I can see that you would have certain projects that aren't necessarily revenue-generating projects -- how do you assess if it's a go or a no-go?  What leads you to believe that $17 million is a worthwhile expenditure for these benefits?  How do you quantify that?

MR. SHEA:  Well, some of these things are difficult to quantify, in that, you know, we look at our corporate policies, we look at our agreement with our shareholder, and we look to see the extent to which it dovetails with our programs and our strategies.  So those are subjective decisions made by the relevant signing authorities within the company.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So there is no formal economic analysis in that sense, at least in the sense of running assumptions and numbers, et cetera.  Your management has determined that $17 million is an appropriate price to pay for the benefits that you would accrue from this visitors centre?

MR. SHEA:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  If I could take you to page 11 of the business case summary, and that's page 20 of the Staff book.  At the very bottom it references annual operating costs of about half-a-million dollars a year; is that right?

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And can I assume that these costs are included in the revenue requirement that OPG has presented in this case?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, they are.

MR. MILLAR:  And can you tell me what these costs are comprised of?  Are these staffing, or what is it?

MR. SHEA:  There's a small number of staff who are at the reception desk.  There's a requirement to do maintenance on the heating, ventilation, air-conditioning systems.  There's landscape maintenance, snow-clearing, minor repairs, upgrades to -- not upgrades, but repair to exhibits.  Some of the exhibits are interactive and computer-based, and there will be -- occasionally you get breakdowns, so there will be repair to the exhibits themselves.  Just normal maintenance on a building that size.

MR. MILLAR:  What about heating and cooling?

MR. SHEA:  Heating, ventilation, air-conditioning.  I mentioned that first.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry.

The staff costs, would these be some of your union staff, or would these be people hired in the local community?  Well, I guess --


MR. SHEA:  If we hire them, then they're our staff.  If we hire them, then they're unionized staff.  So, yes, they are unionized staff.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So are the staffing portion of the costs, are those fully loaded costs?  Includes pensions and other benefits, things like that?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, they are.

MR. MILLAR:  So 500,000 to 530,000 is the total anticipated operating cost?  The $500,000 includes all that?

MR. SHEA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And do you have an FTE equivalent for the staff's -- the staffing?

MR. SHEA:  We don't as yet, and that's because, as you can appreciate, the centre just opened two months ago, or less than two months ago, and as such we have a certain level of staffing, and it will be somewhat iterative until we determine what it takes to maintain it.

So these are estimates.  What you see in the business case are estimates that were done at the time of the approval of the project.

MR. MILLAR:  Of course.  You wouldn't have many staff, I take it, at $500,000, assuming a bunch of other things are included in that?

MR. SHEA:  That's correct, because a lot of the maintenance work in particular is not done by full-time staff.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. SHEA:  These are done periodically.  You only clear the snow when it snows, as a for-instance.

MR. MILLAR:  You do your own snow-clearing, or do you contract that out?

MR. SHEA:  For that facility we do our own snow-clearing.

MR. MILLAR:  So you don't have an FTE equivalent, though?

MR. SHEA:  No, I do not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think that wraps up my Saunders questions.  Madam Chair, it's just after 11:00.  Would this be an appropriate time for a break?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.  That's fine.  We'll break for 20 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:29 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Just before we begin with the panel and with Mr. Millar's continuation, I can advise the parties that will Board will deliver its decision on the two motions after the lunch break today.

Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Panel, I have some questions now about your hydroelectric production forecast and surplus base load generation.  To whom would I direct those questions?

MS. FRAIN:  I can address the forecast.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I'll start with you, Ms. Frain.  Could I ask you to turn to page 24 of Staff's booklet.  And this is an excerpt from the application, Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 2, table 1.

MS. FRAIN:  I have it.

MR. MILLAR:  And just to set up some of the background for this question, I understand that OPG under-forecast the production of its hydroelectric facilities from 2007 through 2009; is that correct?

MS. FRAIN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if I look at this table, the best way to see that is if you look under line 3, the total, and then you'll see it runs through 2007, 2008, and 2009.  But if I'm reading it correctly, the under-forecast for 2007 was 0.7 terawatt hours; is that correct?

MS. FRAIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if we move over to 2008, the number is 1.6 terawatt hours.

MS. FRAIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that correct?  I just need you to say "yes" or "no" just so that it shows up on the transcript.  So that is correct?

MS. FRAIN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if we look down to 2009, I have 0.9 terawatt hours; is that correct?

MS. FRAIN:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, I understand that one of the major challenges in your production forecast is to accurately forecast the Niagara and St. Lawrence River flows; is that right?

MS. FRAIN:  True.

MR. MILLAR:  And I got that from a response you made to a CCC interrogatory.  That's CCC No. 23, which is at page 22 of our booklet.  It's from Issue 5.1.

So I understand that since you under-forecast, is it fair to say that the water flow conditions for 2007 to 2009 were above normal?  Is that right?

MS. FRAIN:  They changed from what the conditions were when we made the forecast.

MR. MILLAR:  So they were more than you had predicted?

MS. FRAIN:  True.

MR. MILLAR:  How long have you been using your current forecasting methodology?

MS. FRAIN:  For as long as I'm familiar.

MR. MILLAR:  So how long would that -- at least --


MS. FRAIN:  Probably ten years.

MR. MILLAR:  At least ten years?  And do you keep data on how often your methodology under-forecasts versus over-forecasts production?

MS. FRAIN:  We went back and did some analysis looking at our forecast on a one-month basis out through the two-year period, and assessed what the mean absolute percent error is over that period.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  And?

MS. FRAIN:  For the short term, as you can imagine, the numbers are not bad.  We show about 97 percent accuracy.  However, as you go further away from the existing conditions, the accuracy decreases.

After about ten months, it's fairly consistent; we're running at 90 to 92 percent accuracy.

MR. MILLAR:  And when you say that there's 90 to 92, and then 97 in the short term, does that go both ways?  By which I mean, are you equally likely to under-forecast as over-forecast?

MS. FRAIN:  There has been an apparent bias over recent years.  However, if we go back further, we see that we are above, and certainly we're seeing it this year, where we have probably over-forecast what we will actually see, given the conditions that we experienced this summer.

MR. MILLAR:  You say a bias in recent years.  What do you mean by "recent years"?

MS. FRAIN:  During the rate regulation period.

MR. MILLAR:  So 2007.

MS. FRAIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  To 2009.  And over that period, how accurate has your forecasting been?  Do you happen to know the number?  Is that somewhere in 90 to 92 percent?

MS. FRAIN:  For the long term, ten months and out, that would apply.  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That would apply.  Okay.  Thank you.  If we look at, again, this is Staff's booklet, page 22, this is the CCC interrogatory response.  CCC had asked you some questions about forecasting and your methodology.

If you look at line 30, there's a sentence that begins:

"OPG continues to carry out statistical analysis regarding the accuracy and potential bias of the flow forecasts.  The analysis does not suggest that there is any systematic bias in the forecasted water flows."

So is this the type of analysis that you were just describing to me?

MS. FRAIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you say you've been doing this analysis for at least a decade or that -- sorry --


MS. FRAIN:  Yeah.  The forecast methodology has been the decade.  The statistical analysis has been the last couple of years.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you've just indicated that over the past -- it's done better over the longer term than the near past; is that right?  The bias hasn't been particularly good since 2007?

MS. FRAIN:  When I say "short-term," I mean we forecast on a monthly basis out for two years.

MR. MILLAR:  Mm-hmm.

MS. FRAIN:  When we're forecasting for the next month, that's where the bias is less, or the forecast is more accurate.

When we get out to the ten-months and beyond in that two-year period, we're down to the 92, 90 percent range.

MR. MILLAR:  I think I was confusing two things here.  What I meant to say is that it has been under-forecasting more than you would expect or more than you would like from 2007 to 2009.

MS. FRAIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And have you made any adjustments to your forecasting methodology in recent years?

MS. FRAIN:  We continue to look at the minor adjustments that we make to the forecasts.  They involve a number of natural systems, the weed effects, ice effects, local inflow.

The only way to include them in the model is to look at the historical information and try to track on similar conditions.

MR. MILLAR:  So are these adjustments to the methodology itself or adjustments as to how you measure the particular inputs that go into the methodology?

MS. FRAIN:  On the inputs.

MR. MILLAR:  On the inputs.  Okay.  And sorry, you have been making tweaks or updates in recent years?

MS. FRAIN:  It's a continuous process.  As we gain additional information, we build it into the system.

MR. MILLAR:  If you flip over to the next page in the Staff booklet, page 23.  This is again in response to a CCC question about your forecasting practices.  It indicates that you are looking at an alternative to the current flow forecasting tool.  And this is something being developed by the advanced hydraulic prediction system -- or pardon me, developed by the US National and Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.


Can you tell me a bit about that?  Would this be a brand new forecasting tool or what is that?

MS. FRAIN:  The model that we're currently using is also developed or was also developed by NOAA, and Great Lakes Environmental Research Lab is the group that has done it.  The new model is an advancement of it.  It's a model that they've developed for a number of systems.  It's been customized for Niagara, and it builds in advanced computation methods.  It also uses an updated data set.  The old model will not be upgraded in the future.

MR. MILLAR:  So this is something being worked on by NOAA.  Are you working with them or is this something they're doing independently?

MS. FRAIN:  It's independent.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And are you involved in that process in any way, aside from monitoring?

MS. FRAIN:  No, we're not.

MR. MILLAR:  And when do you think this forecasting tool will be complete, do you know?

MS. FRAIN:  The tool is available.  We are currently using it, benchmarking it against our existing one.  We don't yet have a full range of data conditions to say whether it works as well, better, or worse than the existing one.

MR. MILLAR:  How is it looking so far?

MS. FRAIN:  Fairly good.

MR. MILLAR:  So a bit better, at least with the data you have before you?

MS. FRAIN:  Pretty much the same.

MR. MILLAR:  So it produces more or less the same results as your current --


MS. FRAIN:  It does.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And how much more data will you need before you can reach a final conclusion on whether or not this might be a better tool?

MS. FRAIN:  Conditions have been fairly much around mean for the last few years.  Some conditions in high-water years or low-water years would be preferable before we accept it.

MR. MILLAR:  So does that mean it depends?

MS. FRAIN:  Or subject to what nature gives us for the flows.

MR. MILLAR:  And without tying you down to a date, would you anticipate this will be something in a year, two years, five years, ten years?  You don't know?

MS. FRAIN:  It's hard to say.  If we don't have those conditions, we won't have the confidence in those changes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you're not planning any move to that methodology, at least in the near term?

MS. FRAIN:  As I say, both are being run simultaneous.  We have similar results in this period, so we're ready to move if we find conditions are good.

MR. MILLAR:  But you're using the OPG methodology currently?  That's what underpins this application?

MS. FRAIN:  The previous model was also developed by the same group.  So it's a similar background.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Again, just to be clear, you are using the old methodology, and not the new methodology.

MS. FRAIN:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  I have some questions about surplus base load generation.  I think others may end up covering this in more detail than I do, but I would like to at least have a stab at this.

I think the best place to start would be if you could go back to page 24 of the Staff booklet, Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 2, table 1.  And if you look towards the bottom of the page, line 21, we see something called a forecast SBG adjustment.  Do you see that?

MS. FRAIN:  I see that.

MR. MILLAR:  And it shows negative .2 terawatt hours for 2010, negative .5 for 2011, and the forecast for 2012, negative .8; is that correct?

MS. FRAIN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you help by explaining what this means?  What is an SBG adjustment?

MS. FRAIN:  I'll defer to Mr. Peterson.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. PETERSON:  Certainly.  This is an amount of hydroelectric -- convert hydroelectric water into energy that we predict will be spilled over that period.

MR. MILLAR:  And why is it spilled?

MR. PETERSON:  Because the system conditions in Ontario are such that there's more base load generation available than there is demand in the Ontario system.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So this is generation that you -- that in normal conditions you would have produced, if I can call it that way, but you spill the water instead because, to put it simply, there's no demand for that energy; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I guess your forecast for -- pardon me, your budget for 2010, at least in the pre-filed, is negative .2 terawatt hours.  Is there an update to that figure, or how are you tracking against that?

MR. PETERSON:  There's no update to the forecast.  We do track the actuals to date of 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have the actuals?

MR. PETERSON:  If you just give me a moment, I believe I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.

[Pause in proceedings.]


MR. MILLAR:  If you don't have it handy, I could take an undertaking, though if the figure is available, I'd prefer to hear it now.

MR. PETERSON:  Yeah, I thought I did have it, but I'm having some difficulty finding it.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, maybe we could move on.  Maybe I'll take an undertaking, if you don't mind, and if you find it before you're finished, then maybe you could let us know.  But that would be Undertaking J1.1, and that is to produce the year-to-date SBG totals for 2010.

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PRODUCE THE YEAR-TO-DATE SBG TOTALS FOR 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  So I'd like to get a better understanding of how this exactly works and how OPG makes the decision to spill water.  Could I ask you to turn to page 25 of the Staff booklet.  And this is a response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 36, issue number 5.1.

And response B -- maybe I'll just read it out.  It's towards the bottom of the page:
"Generally the accountability for mitigating SBG rests with the IESO, rather than with any given market participant.  However, market participants can assist through various actions suggested by the IESO.  When SBG is anticipated, OPG establishes offer prices for the energy from the prescribed assets such that any reductions in output necessary are enacted based on market economics and taken into consideration, constraints arising from..."

And then there's a list of things.

So I just want to make sure I understand how this works.  How does OPG know when SBG conditions are expected to occur?

MR. PETERSON:  As noted at the bottom, the IESO does provide a forecast of SBG.  As well, OPG actively is forecasting its own system conditions on an ongoing daily basis -- on an hourly basis, in fact.

MR. MILLAR:  So does the IESO explicitly sort of issue a declaration that an SBG period is about to begin, or is this something you discern through the market price, or how do you know when it's actually happened?  How do you know when to spill water?

MR. PETERSON:  I wouldn't characterize it as a declaration.  The forecast that's referenced here is more of an indicator for market participants that there is a potential for SBG conditions to arise.

SBG is more of a real-time phenomena (sic).  You can't absolutely declare in advance that it will happen.  You need to wait until the real-time conditions unfold.  Certainly the market will reflect the possibility through price indications in the market.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, is it as simple as, when you have negative pricing, does that always mean there's surplus base load generation?  Like, are the two the same thing?

MR. PETERSON:  Not necessarily, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So how do you know when to spill water?

MR. PETERSON:  In the real-time?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, in real-time.

MR. PETERSON:  Basically, you get a signal, a dispatch signal, from the marketplace indicating that you should reduce your generation at the place in question.  That would be the case and what we're talking about at the Beck.

MR. MILLAR:  When you say a market signal, do you mean a pricing signal, or does the IESO say, 'Constrain'?

MR. PETERSON:  It's based on a pricing signal.  It's through their dispatch scheduling optimizer.  It's run every five minutes, and when it determines that it does not require your generation based on the price at which you had offered it, it would send you a dispatch signal in order to reduce your generation.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, what do you bid your hydroelectric power in at?  Is it zero?

MR. PETERSON:  I think that...

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, sorry, if that's con -- I don't want to -- okay.  You can't answer that question.  Okay.  I apologize.  I didn't want to put you in a tough spot there.

Okay.  But to be clear, does the IESO actually say, 'We are in an SBG condition right now,' or is it done through pricing?

MR. PETERSON:  It actually can be both.

MR. MILLAR:  So they may tell generators, 'We are in absolute base load generation condition.  Govern yourselves accordingly'?

MR. PETERSON:  I wouldn't characterize it that way.  At times it is done through an automated process, through the dispatch scheduling optimizer.  There are times when the IESO will take actions in order to maintain the security and reliability of the system.  They will independently override, let's say, the IESO and take independent actions and direct people to reduce generation in order to meet their obligations.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So they have the power to call you up or do whatever they do and say, 'Turn off generator X.'

MR. PETERSON:  The IESO always maintains the ability to take whatever actions are necessary in order to maintain a safe and reliable system.

MR. MILLAR:  So the answer is "yes".

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And they could do that in response to an absolute base load generation situation?

MR. PETERSON:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you can answer this, have they done that in the past?

MR. PETERSON:  I'm not sure I could answer that.

MR. MILLAR:  Don't answer if you think it's confidential.

So I take it then -- I guess there would be two ways this is communicated:  One is through pricing --


MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, Mr. Millar.  Sorry, it's Mr. DeRose here on behalf of CME.  Just as a matter of practice, if a panel member says that they can't answer, could we identify whether it's because the answer would be confidential or because they can't answer because they don't know, because they don't have that information, so that we could determine whether it's an issue of confidentiality or an issue of inability to answer, full stop, period?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  I think that's a sensible distinction.

MR. MILLAR:  So for my previous question, as to whether or not the IESO had actually directed OPG to constrain certain generators because of an SBG situation, you couldn't answer that.  Is that because it's potentially confidential or because you don't know?

MR. PETERSON:  I would say it's more because I couldn't confidently answer the question.  I don't know confidently enough to know whether they have actually taken that action in real-time or not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Mr. DeRose may choose to follow up on that, but I'll proceed.

Okay.  So as I understood, there are two ways that you might get this signal.  One would be through pricing, and one would be the -- or, pardon me, the IESO might directly tell you to constrain certain things; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if it's done by way of a pricing signal, I take it it's up to OPG whether or not it wants to bid at a number that will mean that it's dispatched?  For example, if you learn about SBG through pricing, it's up to you whether or not you want to bid in such a fashion that your production will be dispatched?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And obviously, if the IESO tells you to shut off, that's not your choice, that's their choice?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Is it true that OPG's hydroelectric facilities, the market price is essentially irrelevant in determining what you're actually paid?

MR. PETERSON:  In terms of our prescribed assets?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. PETERSON:  The market prices are a component of the incentive mechanism.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Incentive mechanism aside, you're paid your regulated rate irrespective of the market price; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Correct, or...

MR. MILLAR:  So absent negative pricing, it would be in your interests to bid in at any time, irrespective of what the market price is?

MR. PETERSON:  We would receive the regulated rate for any production regardless of the price.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think that answers my question.  Thank you.

So is there any good business case, in situations where you're getting a pricing signal that we may be in an SBG situation, is there a good business case for you to voluntarily constrain yourself?

MR. PETERSON:  No, this is more of an operational concern.

MR. MILLAR:  How is that?

MR. PETERSON:  It's a question of priorities of what generation is reduced first.  In the case of OPG, it's clearly more operationally advantageous for us to reduce generation at a hydroelectric facility than it is at a nuclear facility.

MR. MILLAR:  Of course.  And I understand that.  But my point is unless the IESO actually tells you to constrain, you'll be making your prescribed payment amounts irrespective of the market price so there's no real incentive for you to constrain yourself off?  Why would you do that?

MR. PETERSON:  Again, it's a question of our assets and the prior to between our two assets, of which one goes first.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess my point is, why would you constrain either of them, since the market price is irrelevant to the price that you're actually paid?

MR. PETERSON:  I guess the system is such that you -- the system gets into a position where there is no alternative.  Somebody must move.

MR. MILLAR:  And presumably the IESO will call you up if you don't do it on your own?  Will force you to?

MR. PETERSON:  They would have to force someone.

MR. MILLAR:  Would it have to be you?

MR. PETERSON:  Would it have to be?  It likely would be.

MR. MILLAR:  And you wouldn't happen to know if the IESO has directed other generators to constrain off?

MR. PETERSON:  No, I would not.

MR. MILLAR:  If I could ask you to turn to page 27 of the Staff booklet.  This is a CME interrogatory.  And I won't go through it in much detail.  I imagine Mr. DeRose may take you to it again.  But the only figure I wanted to get at was, I think it's on -- it's actually on page 28, page 2 of the undertaking response.

And this is just to confirm that the impact on the revenue deficiency accountable to SBG or at least the forecast for SBG you have is $32.5 million; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And absent SBG, or that adjustment, you essentially would have a sufficiency instead of a deficiency on the hydro side?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me that SBG, the conditions are very difficult to predict, especially if you -- the longer into the future that you look, the more difficult it is to predict?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  They're difficult to forecast, are they not?

MR. PETERSON:  Well, we have a fair amount of confidence in our forecasting abilities.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me that the conditions that give rise to SBG are largely outside of your control?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  They relate to demand, weather, a bunch of things that you don't necessarily have any control over; is that fair?

MR. PETERSON:  That's fair.

MR. MILLAR:  And to the extent that you over-forecast SBG, that will result in an under-forecast of your total production; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Sorry, could you repeat that?

MR. MILLAR:  If you overstate -- or if the forecast overstates your loss, as you call it, from SBG, that will result in errors in your production forecast; is that correct?  All else being equal?

MR. PETERSON:  It would reduce the production.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  It's part of your production forecast.  So to the extent that's off, then your production forecast would be off, all else being equal.  And I guess this could work as a benefit or negative for OPG.

MR. PETERSON:  Absolutely.

MR. MILLAR:  What do you think about the idea of a variance account to track conditions in SBG conditions?  Or pardon me, terawatt hours losses from SBG?

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, or perhaps if I can ask Mr. Millar, there will be, and this is the final panel, a specific panel, dealing with deferral in variance accounts.  It seems to me that that would be an appropriate to ask that panel as to OPG's position with respect to variance account.  I now know what the question is going to be but I assume he will ask it at a later time.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Millar, are you interested strictly from an accounting-type perspective, or are you interested from an operational-type perspective which might perhaps be...

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I want to know the company's position, essentially, on having a deferral account to capture the variances that flow directly from forecasting the SBG.  So if that's for another panel, that's fine.

MR. SMITH:  I believe my friend is not acting for an operational decision, he's asking for the company's position, and I would have thought that that would be appropriate for panel 11.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  That's quite fine.  We'll expect that panel to be able to answer perhaps any related questions to that topic, though.

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

And perhaps just confirm for me one final question on this point.  You do have an existing variance account for water conditions?  Is that right?

MS. FRAIN:  We have a variance account regarding the production forecast water conditions, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But it's specifically for water condition; is that correct?

MS. FRAIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And currently there's nothing for SBG.

MS. FRAIN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'd like to move on to some questions about the hydroelectric incentive mechanism.  And Mr. Buonaguro covered some of this, but I do have a few more questions on it.

And maybe I could start by -- you've gone over some of this, but I just want to make sure I understand how this works exactly.

And what I understand happens is that you're obligated to supply a given quantity of energy in all hours, and for those hours, for that production, you receive the regulated rate; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you produce more than the required hourly volume, you can sell the excess at the prevailing market price; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the delta between the market price and the regulated price is your incentive, that's the hydroelectric incentive mechanism?

MR. PETERSON:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  No.  Okay.  Then help me out.  What is it?

MR. PETERSON:  The incentive mechanism portion of the formula is the second term in the equation.  And it -- how can I explain that?

We receive the market clearing price for the volumes in excess of the hourly production.  That market clearing price may be more or less than the actual regulated rate.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. PETERSON:  So it could be less.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. PETERSON:  So it's not in addition -- it's --


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  But when you add all that up, is that the incentive?

MR. PETERSON:  The incentive comes from the difference between what you purchased electricity from the market during the off-peak periods when you pump, and what you in terms sell it back to the market at during the on-peak period, so it's really the spread between when you notionally purchase and when you sell back to the market.  So they're independent of the regulated rate.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And this incentive, I'm sure this goes unsaid, but to the extent that you earn any incentive out of this, this would be on top of your return on equity, on top of the ROE?  I don't know if you know that, but maybe Mr. -- if someone could confirm that.

MR. PETERSON:  It's incremental.

MR. MILLAR:  Incremental, thank you.

MR. PETERSON:  It's incremental gross rate.

MR. MILLAR:  And in order to maximize the amount that you can sell at times of high pricing, I understand that you pump some water into a storage reservoir when prices are very low; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  This is pump generating station?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then you release that water through the generators when prices are high?

MR. PETERSON:  That’s correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And this allows you to maximize production when energy prices are high, and thereby you earn additional incentive payments; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  If the spread between the two periods is sufficient, you would earn it, additional revenue.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Understood.  Okay.  If I could take you to page 30 of Staff booklet.  This is taken from Exhibit E1, tab 2, schedule 1, and now I'm on page 3 here.  I believe Mr. Buonaguro took you through this.  But you forecast incentive amounts of $12 million in 2009?

MR. PETERSON:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  And you actually earned about 23.2 million; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.  Our incremental revenues were 23.2.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand that the reason that the number came in above forecast -- there's two reasons.  One is that the price spreads between peak and off-peak were greater than you expected; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  That was a contributing factor.

MR. MILLAR:  And the other thing you list is that you shifted more energy from off-peak to peak than you had forecast, about 25 percent more; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  Correct.  There were more opportunities.

MR. MILLAR:  And that by and large explains how you almost doubled your forecast for the incentive?

MR. PETERSON:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, you stated that for 2010 you hadn't done a forecast; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  Not that I'm aware of.

MR. MILLAR:  So you don't budget an amount for an incentive payment, even if you're not in a rate-setting year -- or, pardon me, a payment-setting year?

MR. PETERSON:  If there is one, I'm not aware of it.  There may be.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask for an undertaking just to see if you have done a forecast, and if so, what that forecast was for 2010?

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  We'll make an enquiry.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That's J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO ENQUIRE WHETHER A FORECAST HAS BEEN DONE AND, IF SO, WHAT THE FORECAST WAS FOR 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  You told Mr. Buonaguro that so far for 2010 you were at about $11 million in incentive, up to the end of August; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And we did some quick calculations.  I don't know if you get a straight-line relationship, but if you annualize that amount, it would be about $16.5 million?  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. PETERSON:  First, I would say that it's not necessarily a straight line, the extrapolation.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And then accepting those as our assumptions, that we assume straight line, can you agree, subject to check, that 11 million up to August would work out to 16.5 million for the whole year?

MR. PETERSON:  Subject to check, but I would add that it is definitely not a straight line.  If I broke it down by a monthly -- sorry, if I broke it down on a monthly basis, you could see that it deviates significantly from month to month.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I'm just working on the best information we have, so with those caveats, at least -- it's just a mathematical calculation, so I guess you can agree or disagree, but I think the math is right on that.

And again, you're forecasting 13.3 million in incentives for 2011 and 16.3- for 2012?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And are you using the same -- whatever forecasting methodology you've used, you're using the same one for 2011 and 2012 that you used for 2009?  Whatever you did to predict 2009, you're using the same methodology for 2011 and 2012?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

Now, if you could turn to page 29 of the Staff booklet.  This is the same exhibit we were just referring to.  And you've done kind of a, at least a high-level estimate of some of the benefits that accrue from, I guess, largely from PSG, pump -- PG -- there's too many acronyms.  PGS.  But I guess from the incentive mechanism as a whole.  And if I could read from line 22 of that page, it says:
"OPG estimates that between December 2008 and December 2009 usage of the PGS lowered demand weighted market prices by approximately $1.14 a megawatt-hour."

Is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  That's what we have estimated with the information available to us.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I think you concede, in fairness, that this is -- it's an estimate?

MR. PETERSON:  Absolutely.

MR. MILLAR:  And can you tell me how you came up with this estimate?  How did you determine that?

MR. PETERSON:  Basically, the -- knowing -- backcasting, they know the real-time outcome.  They removed the generation from -- the back or PGS generation that we had, we removed it from the actual outcomes of the market, and we simulate an offer stack that includes other market participants.  By removing that generation out of that offer stack, you can see or realize a change in the actual outcome of the market.

MR. MILLAR:  And I guess the information you're lacking, or at least some of the information you're lacking, is that you don't know what non-OPG folks bid in at; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.  All we can do is estimate it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you -- I didn't see any -- I'm not sure I would ask for them, but I didn't see any background numbers behind the $1.14 estimate, and that may get into confidential information, so I won't ask for it if it's not there, but am I right that it's not in the pre-filed evidence, the numbers behind the $1.14 per megawatt-hour calculation?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And are there any other benefits to consumers, aside from the lowering in the weighted price from this incentive mechanism?

MR. PETERSON:  I would say "yes".  There are benefits, such as -- that are not easily quantified, I guess is what I'm trying to say.  There are a number of generators, for example, within the system that are -- gas-fired generators that, when they're called upon, even to meet the demand in one hour, need to stay on-line for ten hours, for example, at a minimum, high minimum loading period.

If the PGS can be utilized in peak periods, very short-duration peak periods, and these units don't need to start during those periods, there can be a residual benefit that's difficult to quantify.

MR. MILLAR:  So would these be non-monetary benefits, or just that they're too complicated to put into your estimate?

MR. PETERSON:  No, I would say they're monetary benefits.  They're just too complicated to put into our estimates.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And as you say, this is nothing -- well, it's an estimate, estimate based on the best information you have.

MR. PETERSON:  It's meant to be demonstrative of the benefits to the ratepayer.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You would agree with me that a large majority of electricity supplied to the Ontario grid is supplied under long-term contracts with guaranteed prices or rate of return?  Is that fair?

MR. PETERSON:  There are a significant number of contracts.

MR. MILLAR:  My -- I've heard estimates that range anywhere from 80 to 95 percent of the power supplied to the grid is done through these types of contracts.  Would you have reason to agree or disagree with that?

MR. PETERSON:  I don't think I can either agree or disagree with that.

MR. MILLAR:  You would agree it's a significant amount?

MR. PETERSON:  I would agree that it's significant.  I don't know the amounts.

MR. MILLAR:  For example, I heard in Mr. Keizer's opening statement that OPG itself -- that the regulated assets produce 48 percent of the electricity for Ontario, and presumably that would all be under -- I don't know if you would call it a contract price, but it would be at the guaranteed rate, aside from the incentive payments.

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So it's more than half.

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you're familiar with the global adjustment mechanism, I take it?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I am.

MR. MILLAR:  And that, just to put this at the very highest level, that ensures that, irrespective of the market price, the folks who have long-term -- or contracts of any sort are paid their contracted rate.

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And to the extent that the market price is lower than that contracted rate, the global adjustment makes up the difference.  Is that fair?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I suppose vice versa as well.

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So you would agree with me then that the actual energy costs paid by consumers, the commodity amounts, would have two components.  There would be the market price and the global adjustment?  Is that fair?

MR. PETERSON:  Amongst other things, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, for commodity are there other things?

MR. PETERSON:  Oh, sorry, for the commodity, no. Strictly for the...

MR. MILLAR:  And would you agree -- so based on that, is it not true that the -- you've calculated reductions to the market prices of about $1.14 a megawatt-hour.  Isn't it true that the market price is largely irrelevant, in terms of what consumers actually pay for their electricity?

MR. PETERSON:  As I said before, the $1.14 is merely an attempt by us to illustrate a benefit to the ratepayer.  What happens, in terms of what the ratepayer pays, is beyond OPG's control.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I just want to understand the basis for that number.  Did you take into account the fact that most of the electricity produced is not actually paid at the market rate?  Is that included in your calculation?

MR. PETERSON:  It is not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So we've done some extremely high-level math as to what an actual number of that benefit would be to ratepayers.  But first I want to make sure I'm clear on what you've done.

You're saying that the $1.14 reduction to the demand weighted market price is -- okay.  No, that would still flow, irrespective of -- let me take a step back.

I will go to the math, because I do understand what you've done.  So what we've done is, we sort of took that benefit, the $1.14, and we tried to multiply it by the total terawatt-hours used over an average year and see what kind of numbers we got.

So I understand this is all very rough, but this is just sort of directionally where things might go.  And if you disagree with our numbers, I would like to hear it, but I want to try and put some sort of number on this.

So I understand that the 2009 total energy demand was around 140 terawatt-hours?  Does that sound about right?

MR. PETERSON:  That sounds approximately correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you have a $1.14 reduction, a weighted average reduction, you multiply that by 140 terawatt-hours -- I understand there's a million megawatt-hours in a terawatt hours -- to make a long calculation short, I get a total number of $159.6 million?  Essentially what I've done is multiply a $1.14 by 140.  You can certainly check this if you like, but all I've done is enter those numbers into the calculator.  Does that sound about right?

MR. PETERSON:  That sounds about right.

MR. MILLAR:  So that's 160 million.  That, of course, wouldn't take into account any global adjustment --adjustments.  So what I've done from there, and again, this is nothing but straight math.  If you assume that 75 percent of the energy is under contract and not paid at the market price, if you multiply $160 million by 0.25 then you get 39.9 million, would you take that subject to check?

MR. PETERSON:  I would take that subject to check.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if 90 percent is under contract, again, 159.6 times 0.1, the total reduction in consumption -- pardon me, commodity cost actually paid by ratepayers is 15.9 million.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. PETERSON:  Sorry, could you repeat that?

MR. MILLAR:  If you assume 90 percent of production is under contract and only, therefore, 10 percent pays the market rate, you multiply 159.6 by 0.1, I get $15.9 million.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And in fairness to both you and Staff, who helped me prepare this, these are the highest level of calculation.

But assuming you had your number right on it as $1.14per megawatt-hour, that's the type of calculation you would perm to determine the actual dollar benefit to consumer; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  I would have to go back to the fact that the $1.14 was only meant to be illustrative of the benefit to the ratepayer and trying to calculate what the actual benefit is through the way you're doing it, would have, I think, an extremely wide range of outcomes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand that.  This is nothing but the highest level of analysis.  So if you have anything else to add, I'm happy to hear it, but I don't have any further questions about that.

I'd like to look at your forecast for 2011/2012.  Now, you've given me the reasons, again, I think if we flip the page to page 30 of the Staff booklet.

The reasons for the under-forecast in 2009 were that the spreads were larger and then you shifted more energy to peak than you had anticipated; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you also state that, I guess at least one of the reasons you’re forecasting lower incentives for 2011 and 2012 is that you're predicting that the market price spreads will decline for those time periods as against 2009; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I don't know that you need to turn to this, though it is in the booklet at page 33, in response to an AMPCO IR, you indicate that for 2009, SBG conditions resulted in you spilling water that otherwise would have produced 0.19 terawatt hours of electricity; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  At the regulated facilities, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's for 2009.

MR. PETERSON:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And for 2011 and 2012, you're predicting something quite a bit more than that.  Is that fair?

MR. PETERSON:  In terms of SBG?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, isn't SBG fairly highly correlated with low market prices?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  And why is it, then -- I guess it doesn't speak to the peak, and maybe that will form part of your answer, but why is it that you're predicting lower pride spreads for 2011 and 2012 as compared to 2009?

MR. PETERSON:  Generally speaking, the prices that we're forecasting are lower, both in the on and in the off-peak.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, so they're lower in on-peak and off-peak.

MR. PETERSON:  Both.

MR. MILLAR:  And your calculation of that spread is that the spread is less than it was for 2009?  Sorry, is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Peterson, just to make sure I'm clear.  So the forecast is for lower absolute levels for peak and off-peak, and also a lower spread between the two?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  And what about the fact that you shifted more from off-peak to peak in 2009 than you had anticipated?  I think you stated you actually shifted 986 gigawatt-hours, which is 25 percent more than the 783 gigawatt-hours.  What are you predicting for 2011 and 2012?  How many gigawatt-hours?

MR. PETERSON:  Let me find that in the evidence.

MR. MILLAR:  It's at page 3.  Page 30 of Staff's handout.  Page 3 of the exhibit.

MR. PETERSON:  You're asking about the quantities, are you not?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That's right.  The first bullet point.  I guess I'm wondering if your forecasts for 2011/2012 is closer to 986 gigawatt-hours or 783?

MR. PETERSON:  It's actually greater than a terawatt hours.

MR. MILLAR:  Ah, so you're predicting more, more shifting but at a lower spread?

MR. PETERSON:  I would like to point out that in the exhibit, the 986 is in reference to the Niagara plant group only.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.

MR. PETERSON:  The total is actually slightly over a terawatt hour, when you include the Saunders facilities.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  So are you predicting for 2011/2012, that you'll shift more or less than you did in 2009?

MR. PETERSON:  It is more.

MR. MILLAR:  More.  It's still more.  Okay.  Thank you.

Mr. Buonaguro asked you some questions about, if I could paraphrase for him, essentially, if you wouldn't use the pump generating stations anyways, even absent the incentive mechanism.  Do you recall that?

MR. PETERSON:  I'm not sure.

MR. MILLAR:  There was an exchange you had where you indicated that incentive is a driver for you to encourage you to shift production to on-peak where you can.  Is that fair enough?

MR. PETERSON:  It's an economic driver, correct.  Not the only driver, I would point out.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right.  So although you might still do similar activities absent the incentive, you might not devote as much attention to them; is that fair enough?

MR. PETERSON:  Oh, I don't think I'd characterize it that way.

MR. MILLAR:  And I wasn't saying that in a negative sense.  It's not unnatural to chase the money, in my view, but would you still use the pump generating station absent the incentive?

MR. PETERSON:  There are a number of reasons that we use the PGS station for operational reasons.

MR. MILLAR:  So the answer is yes?


MR. PETERSON:  Yes.  We would continue to do those.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So, to the extent that there are benefits to consumers through reduced prices, those would, at least to some extent, be realized even absent the incentive?  Might not be $1.14, again, knowing that that number is an educated guess but there would be some benefit?

MR. PETERSON:  Not necessarily.  You have to recognize that operational drivers are -- ignore any price or economic signals and can be done at times when they're uneconomic because they have to be done.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I'll leave that.

This is -- I'm not sure if this is quite a question but it's more of a heads up, and I'll put it to you, and you can respond as you see fit.

One of the things Staff is quite likely to recommend in this proceeding is that there be some form of revenue-sharing on this incentive mechanism.  Can you tell me what OPG's position or response to that would be?  And if you don't want to, that's fine, but I wanted to let you know that that's what we're going to suggest, and if you have anything to say about that, I'm happy to hear it.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I'm not sure that that's a factual question that is appropriate for the witness.  I appreciate the heads up, and we will have a position on that, no doubt.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  And I'm not sure whether that's a matter that should be dealt with in argument.  It seems to me that it is entirely an argument point, as opposed to a factual inquiry.

MR. MILLAR:  I think that's right.  I only wanted to give the panel an opportunity to respond to that if they saw fit, and if they don't, I certainly won't press them.

Okay.  Thank you, I'm going to move on to my last area.  These are the IESO non-energy charges.

Who would I direct these questions to?

MR. PETERSON:  It would be to me.

MR. MILLAR:  I think the best place to start would be page 36 of is it a Staff's exhibit book.  And this is an excerpt, again, from the pre-filed evidence, Exhibit F4, tab 4, schedule 1, table 1.

First, I do want to clarify that this is the correct panel to ask these questions of.  I think it's actually technically categorized as a centrally-held cost, which I thought was not for this panel, but I do understand that I should be asking questions about IESO non-energy charges of you?

MR. PETERSON:  I think there's some overlap.  This is also referenced in the variance account panel.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Why don't I start my questions, and if you're not the right person, then you can direct me to the correct panel.

And just to be clear, first, the table I've provided, if you look at line 5, it has IESO non-energy charges.  I just want to make sure we have a common understanding of what those are.

These would be non-energy costs that are charged to withdrawals from the IESO grid; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So it's non-commodity costs?  It's not the commodity.

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So it would include things like transmission charges, debt retirement, RRRP, IESO admin fees, OPA fees, uplift charges, and the global adjustment?  Is that a more or less complete list?

MR. PETERSON:  That sounds like that a more or less complete list.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I won't hold you to that, but that's more or less what it is.

And is it fair to say that to the extent you reduce the amount of power you withdraw from the grid, you would reduce your IESO non-energy charges?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And if we look at this chart, again, on page 36 of the Staff exhibit book, I see you're seeking to recover $62.8 million for 2010 and $69.2- for 2011; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  That our forecast, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And your budget for 2010 is 54.7 million; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to provide the year-to-date for 2010?

MR. PETERSON:  I don't believe I have that.

MR. MILLAR:  If I asked for an undertaking, would you be able to provide it?

MR. SMITH:  We'll give that undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that's J1.3, and it is to provide the year-to-date figures for IESO non-energy charges, obviously for 2010.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE THE YEAR-TO-DATE FIGURES FOR IESO NON-ENERGY CHARGES FOR 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  And is it correct that you've also applied for a variance account to capture any variances from forecast for 2011/2012?  I only want to know if you've applied for that account.  It's not really questions about that account.

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And am I right that these costs, especially since you have a variance account, are essentially simply a pass-through for OPG?  Whatever the IESO charges you, assuming you get the variance account, is what consumers will pay; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.  It would take the risk away.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, if I look at this chart, I can't help but notice the enormous jump from 2008 to 2009, 22.4 million to 75.5.  You see that?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand that's essentially entirely because of increases in the GAM; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, the global adjustment represents the largest portion of it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Okay.  If I could ask you to turn to page 37.  This is a Staff -- Board Staff IR No. 88, and it's with reference to issue 6.9.  And we ask you a question whether or not you've taken any energy efficiency initiatives to reduce energy consumption, and you provide us a link with that response to OPG's 2009 sustainable development report; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I've reproduced that at pages -- starting at page 40.  I don't think this report itself was actually provided.  You provided the link.  So as best I can tell, the only place you can find this report on the record will be through this exhibit book.  However, you did directly reference it in the IR response.

So am I right that it's not otherwise in the application?

MR. PETERSON:  I don't believe it is.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  So I'd like to -- I didn't reproduce the entire document, though certainly I can if anyone needs to see it.  But -- so this was -- you directed us to pages 13 and 14, which I've reproduced here.

If you look on page 40, which is page 13, the right-hand column, about halfway down, it says:
"In 2009 OPG achieved new internal energy efficiency savings of 29.6 GWh/yr.  This saving was primarily attributable to efficiencies in hydroelectric and real estate operations."

And then if you move down a bit:
"Energy efficiency results are reported on project completion.  At year end 2009, within the hydroelectric division, seven projects were completed, including turbine runner upgrades at Cameron Falls GS, Ragged Rapids GS, Des Joachims ..."

Is that right?  Mr. Buonaguro used French, so I'll use German or Dutch, whatever it is.  Whatever it is, you can read it:
"...McVittie Generating Station, and frequency conversion at Sir Adam Beck Generating Station, and transformer replacement at Harmon Generating Station."

Do you see that?

MR. PETERSON:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if you flip over the next page, at the very top, it says:
"Within Real Estate services at OPG Head Office, resource efficiency initiatives resulted in the following improvements;..."

And the first bullet point is electricity consumption was 13,153 (sic) megawatt-hours, which was down 4.24 percent from 2008.  Do you see that?

MR. PETERSON:  It was actually 36,000.  I think you said 13.

MR. MILLAR:  Ah.  Thank you very much.

Am I correct that these energy efficiency savings would result in reductions to the amount that OPG pays for IESO non-energy charges?  To the extent you withdraw less money from the grid, you will pay less for IESO non-energy charges?

MR. PETERSON:  I think these figures are in relation to facilities that are both regulated and non-regulated.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  So to be clear, OPG as a whole, corporate OPG, will pay less, whether it's through the regulated assets or not, from these energy efficiency improvements?

MR. PETERSON:  Correct.  If you reduce your consumption, you would reduce the overall costs.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I note that you don't appear to have done any work on the nuclear facilities; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  I don't think I could answer that.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, it's not listed here.  Is that fair?

MR. PETERSON:  It's fair that it's not listed here, but I couldn't answer it directly.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, and this is OPG's response to our question about energy efficiencies.  So I don't know if you can answer this, but I presume, had there been a major energy efficiency initiative for the nuclear facilities, we would expect to see it here; is that fair?

MR. PETERSON:  I would expect so.

MR. MILLAR:  If you flip back again to that Board Staff IR 88, in particular page 38, we asked you to produce a table showing both the actual withdrawals from the grid and the actual IESO non-energy charges.  You in fact -- I think we asked for it for everything, but you produced it for the regulated side.

If we look at nuclear, at least as compared to hydro, both the bulk of the withdrawals and the bulk of the charges relate to nuclear; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And for 2012, just by way of example, the cost is approximately three times the amount for nuclear, as opposed to hydro.  And the withdrawals are getting close to three times as much as well; is that right?

MR. PETERSON:  You're looking at table 1?

MR. MILLAR:  table 1 and table 2.  table 1 shows the money and table 2 shows the withdrawals.  In both cases it's almost three times as much from nuclear as hydro?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.  Not quite, but yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  First of all, we asked for the information from OPG as a whole.  Is there a reason -- or let me put it this way.  Are you able to complete this chart by putting in the numbers for non-regulated hydro, corporate, and total OPG?  We'd be interested in seeing those numbers if they're available.

MR. SMITH:  I suppose the relevance of the request is not apparent to me, so if my friend could clarify it, then I'll be able to take some instructions on the interrogatory -- sorry, on the undertaking request.

MR. MILLAR:  I suppose there's two.  One would be a cost allocation.  But what my questions are going to get to is that all of the improvements appear to have been done on the non-regulated side, as opposed to the regulated side, and we want to see, for example, maybe that's because they use a lot more power on that side.  But without that information, which we asked for, we're unable to analyze why the expenditures have been so great on the non-regulated versus the regulated side.

MR. SMITH:  We'll make an enquiry.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  I'll take that as a -- okay.  The undertaking is J1.4, and it is to complete the tables, table 1 and table 2, on page 2 of 3 of Exhibit L, tab 1, schedule 88, to include information for non-regulated hydro, corporate, and total OPG.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO COMPLETE TABLES 1 AND 2 ON PAGE 2 OF 3 OF EXHIBIT L, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 88, TO INCLUDE INFORMATION FOR NON-REGULATED HYDRO, CORPORATE, AND TOTAL OPG.

MR. SMITH:  I should probably have added, I don't know whether that information is actually available.  So we'll make an enquiry and get back to you, Mr. Millar, one way or the other, with whatever information is available.  If it is available, we'll let you know.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's the request, in any event, and I guess we'll see what you can come back with.

So, Mr. Smith has cleverly made my tip my hand and tell you what my next questions are.  But can you tell me why you haven't done any work on the nuclear side?  It's such a -- $33 million for 2012 just on these non-energy charges, to say nothing of the commodity costs, nuclear appears to use three times as much as hydro and I have to system it uses a lot more than your real estate services or something like that.  Why haven't you done any energy efficiency improvements for nuclear?

MR. PETERSON:  I don't think I can answer that question.  I would point out that the consumption of the nuclear stations or any station are to -- power auxiliary required in the production of electricity.

MR. MILLAR:  Of course.  I understand what it's for but I guess my point is you haven't done anything to improve efficiency yet at those facilities that I can see.

MR. PETERSON:  Not that I'm aware of.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You also -- on the hydro side, I believe you had listed seven projects.  However, only one of them relates to a regulated Hydro facility, and that's the Sir Adam Beck generating station.  Why the focus on non-regulated versus regulated?  Do you know?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, it’s really not necessarily a focus on unregulated versus regulated.   A lot of these energy efficiency –-

MS. CHAPLIN:  I don't think you have the microphone on.

MR. MAZZA:  Okay, sorry.  What this, I guess, chart or page implies is that, really, it is our runner upgrade program for the hydroelectric business, and as it turns out, we are upgrading runners based on economics as well as efficiency improvements.  So as it turns out, we have more unregulated facilities so you'll notice some of the runner upgrades that you see on this list are at unregulated facilities.

We have already upgraded the Sir Adam Beck 2 complex.  We added 194 megawatts back in the 1996-2005 time period.  So we basically squeezed out a lot of efficiency improvements out of that complex.

Now we're focussing on Beck number 1 which, you'll see in some of the evidence, we're upgrading runners there.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. PETERSON:  Can I point to one more piece of --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. PETERSON:  These are referencing not energy consumption per se, they're actually referencing increased energy production, not consumption.

MR. MILLAR:  So this would be irrelevant in terms of your IESO non-energy charges?

MR. PETERSON:  Correct.  These are energy efficiency improvements that are production-based, not consumption-based.

MR. MAZZA:  There are some in that list that are actually efficiency improvements on consumption.  The transformer replacements are.  So it's a combined list of getting more out of the water that we utilize and reducing consumption.

MR. MILLAR:  What about the real estate?  I assume those are actual energy consumption efficiency improvements as opposed to production?  Since I wouldn't imagine real estate produces energy?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That's correct?  Okay.  With regard to the efficiency improvements for real estate and head office, did you incur OM&A or capital costs associated with these initiatives?

MR. PETERSON:  Sorry, could you repeat the question, sorry?

MR. MILLAR:  The improvements that you realized in real estate, for example, I assume you must have incurred costs for that, whether they be OM&A or capital?

MR. PETERSON:  I'm afraid I couldn't answer that question.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I guess my follow-up question would be, to the extent that you did, and I have to imagine it wasn't free, was any of it allocated to the regulated side of the business?

MR. PETERSON:  I'm afraid that's not something I could answer.

MR. MILLAR:  Is this the right panel?  I can do it by way of undertaking if this is the correct panel.

MR. SMITH:  It's not, but the corporate panel will be.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Just about at the end here.  If I could take you to page 39.  Again, this is Staff IR 88, again.

And it's a response to (b), relates to the amount of energy that you produce and use on-site.  And what it says, starting at line 6, this is the response:

“A generator within a station produces energy, and directs some of that energy to the loads within the station, and the remainder to the generator's delivery point.  The load fed directly from the station's generator does not attract Non-Energy charges because there is no energy withdrawal from the grid.  Therefore, the withdrawal quantities shown in table 2 represent the station loads supplied from the IESO-controlled grid."

And that's explained what table 2 shows; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to provide -- able to tell us how much of the energy that it produces it directs, it directs within the facility?  I.e., my question is do you know how much energy you use in a facility that you don't get from the grid?  In other words, that you take from the generation there?

MR. PETERSON:  I could give it to you in very general term, not to the level of detail that's provided here.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you -- and I'll tell you what I'm interested in hearing, and if it's by way of undertaking, if it's something you can provide, maybe we can do it that way.  But I'd be interested to see how much you directed on-site to the load, i.e., not withdrawn from the grid, from 2007 to 2010?  Would you have those numbers?

MR. PETERSON:  It could be provided.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask for an undertaking, then?  And again, to make sure, I'm not wording it -- I'll tell you what I'm looking for.

MR. PETERSON:  Sorry.  I must correct that, actually.  We do not meter it behind the meter.

MR. MILLAR:  You would know how much energy --


MR. PETERSON:  So we would not --


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, so do you know how much energy you use in total on site?

MR. PETERSON:  I don't believe that we could provide that figure.

MR. MILLAR:  So it wouldn't be as simple as taking your total amount used and subtract the amount you take from the IESO grid?  You don't actually know how much power you use?

MR. PETERSON:  We don't meter the energy usage that is consumed behind the meter.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have at least a guesstimate?  You must have some idea how much you're using.


[Witness panel confers]

MR. PETERSON:  We used to have an estimate pre-market days, but since they've installed the revenue meters at the market start 2002, we no longer do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that right?  So you don't know how much power you use on site?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Ah.  You were about to give me some sort of answer about something relating to how much you may or may not be using and I cut you off, and maybe I shouldn't have because that may be the best I get.  Are you able to tell me if you're using more now than you did in 2007 or how the amount you use would vary over time?  Is it static?  Steady?

MR. PETERSON:  It would normally be a function of your production to some degree.  Some auxiliaries continue whether you produce or not.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So if you produce more, all else being equal, you would use more on site; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That would be, in very general terms, probably true.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I'm going to move on.  Thank you.

If I could take you back to the chart that shows what you are predicting.  This is at page 36 of Board Staff's booklet, and you'll be happy to hear I am almost done.  You're predicting for 2011, 62 million, and 69 million in 2012.  However, for 2010 you were down, at least the budget, was for $54.7 million.

Why the big jump from 2010 to 2011?

MR. PETERSON:  I'm not sure I could tell you why the difference.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, how about why the big decline from 2009 to 2010?  I understand 2010 is just a budget, and your undertaking will provide an update to that but it's a big drop-off from the 2009 actual to the 2010 budget.  Can you tell me why that would be?

MR. PETERSON:  I would be guessing.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, 2009, I understand you had certain vacuum building outages; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that would have, overall, reduced the amount of power that you consumed, is that fair, for 2009?

MR. PETERSON:  No, actually, I think it would have --


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, it would increase.

MR. PETERSON:  It would increase.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  The global adjustment rate has remained quite high for the first five months of 2010, is that fair enough?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So I guess, if I was of a conspiratorial mind, first you can confirm you're seeking a variance account to capture the difference; that’s correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  To the extent you under-forecast in 2011 or 2012, you will make up that difference?  The forecast is largely irrelevant if the variance account is accepted; is that true?

MR. PETERSON:  If there's a variance account, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you're not able to tell me why your forecast for 2011 and 2012 is lower than the 2009 actuals, which are the last numbers we have.  Is that right?


MR. PETERSON:  Not conclusively.  I would think the vacuum building outage had something to do with it, but I couldn't tell you conclusively.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  In the absence -- we discussed that these come-offs are essentially a pass-through, especially with a variance account.  Does OPG have any incentive to reduce or strive to minimize the IESO non-energy costs with the -- if you have a variance account?

MR. PETERSON:  I think that OPG, as an environmentally sensitive company, would always take actions to reduce consumption.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, before we move on, I had questioned my friend about a question relating to a variance account.  And I may rue this, but Mr. Millar didn't indicate, other than beyond indicating that it would be in argument, that this would be something that Staff might put forward.

I think it actually may be of some assistance to have some factual information on the record, at least hypothetically, so that Mr. Millar isn't put in the position of saying, well, something might be different if there were a variance account, and I say, well, there's no evidence of that.  And I'm equally in the same position we would be sort of at a stand-off.

So it may be that it's a good idea for Mr. Millar to ask the question, putting what -- you know, I'll leave him to ask the question, but whatever question he had intended to ask.  I'm not going to object to it, and we'll just deal with the matter in argument then.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, just to be clear, what we're referencing, are we talking about what will be Staff's proposal to do some revenue-sharing on the incentive mechanism?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I presume that behind the revenue-sharing is some figure, 10 percent, 20 percent, 50 percent, 75 percent.  We're just in an awkward position, because certainly if Mr. Millar says it's Staff's position that it should be split 50-50, I could imagine a rejoinder that said something like, well, we don't know what OPG's reaction to that might be.  The question wasn't asked.  And I think, in fairness, having reflected on the matter, maybe it's appropriate for the question to be put on the record.  I have no idea what the number is going to be.  But at least then it will be on the record.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that opportunity, Mr. Smith.

I guess Staff would have two ideas that we can put forward on this.  One would be a simple 50-50 sharing of incentive amounts.  And again, I say this without prejudice to our final position, but I think that it would be something in this nature.

And a second idea would be a declining amount to encourage further incentives, whereby in year 1 it might be whatever, 25, 75, in favour of OPG, and then over a number of years the balance would shift by some amount each year.

So those would be two ideas Staff might have and may well present in final argument.  To the extent you wish to comment on those or say anything, I'm happy to hear it.  Otherwise, it can be left for argument.

MR. SMITH:  Well, perhaps it's misunderstood.  I don't think it's an appropriate question to ask the panel for OPG's position.  I do think it's a factually appropriate question to ask, if the incentive were different in this way, would it impact OPG's operational decisions, or its, you know, how it operates the PGS.  That's a factual question.  I think that question may be appropriate if my friend wants to ask it, but I don't think it is appropriate to ask for OPG's legal position, at least at this time.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, I misunderstood.  I did ask some questions about how the facility might be operated differently absent the incentive.  I don't have more questions on that.  If Mr. Smith wants to go at it through his redirect, that's fine, but I don't have any further questions.

MR. SMITH:  Perhaps I misunderstood then.  That's fine.  I'll reflect on it for re-examination.  I may ask the question.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  I mean, it may not be for the witnesses to respond in respect of the legal position, but it would seem to me appropriate for the witnesses to speak on behalf of OPG as to the company's position as to the impact of a sharing of the incentive.

MR. SMITH:  And that was the reflection I had -- well, some additional --


MS. CHAPLIN:  So perhaps I will just ask that question directly, if they have any news as to the merits of a potential sharing.

Anyway, perhaps you could ask the question -- answer the question.

MR. PETERSON:  Sorry, what was the question?  I'm losing track.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, I'll speak loudly for the benefit of -- does this one work?  Oh, okay.  Must be because I laughed into it.

I think the question for your panel is, does OPG have a view as to the merits of a potential sharing, as opposed to the current incentive mechanism?  So a mechanism whereby there would be some sharing of the benefits between the ratepayers and OPG.

MR. PETERSON:  Are you asking how it would influence our operations?

MS. CHAPLIN:  I am asking for your views on it.  Does it influence operations?  Are there other impacts?  It's a fairly open-ended question.

MR. PETERSON:  I think that, as I stated before, that a reduction in the incentive would likely reduce OPG's -- well, incentive to do those type of operations because of the risks involved, as I stated before.  As you increase the risks to OPG, it would likely reduce the amount that it would cycle the PGS.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  We'll leave it there.

I guess we'll break for lunch now.  You're done, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And after lunch, I believe it's Mr. Lord?  You're going to be up after lunch?

MR. LORD:  That is correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Great.  So it's now quarter to 1:00.  We'll break for an hour.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:46 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:53 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Good afternoon.  Before we continue with the cross-examination of the hydroelectric panel, the Board will deliver its decision on the motions.
DECISION:


The Board sat on Thursday, September 30th, to hear motions by CCC and CME.  Both motions sought the production of materials presented to the OPG board of directors in the period between April 1, 2010 and May 26, 2010.

The Board has decided not to order production of the materials sought in the CME and CCC motions.  In the Board's view, these materials are not relevant to the determination of the issues before the Board in this proceeding.  The Board will make its decision on the application and supporting materials filed by the applicant and the evidence of intervenors, all of which is subject to cross-examination.

This evidence goes to the financial and operational impacts of the application and of the alternatives which have been considered.

The material which has been sought through the motions includes the communication between OPG's management and its board of directors, seeking approval to file the application, delegated authority to deal with the proceeding, and the analysis of "likely prospects for success."  This material does not form part of the application and does not enhance nor detract from the merits of the application.

The evidence is that no changes to the business plans and budgets which underpin the application were sought or made as a result of the board of directors' meeting.  These plans and budgets have been filed.

Intervenors can explore, through the witness, whether alternatives to the application should have been considered, and the impacts of OPG's choices.  None of this relies on what management presented to the board of directors.

Having found that the materials are not relevant and need not be produced, the question of privilege will not be addressed.

That concludes the Board's decision, and subject to any questions, we can continue with the cross-examination.
Procedural Matters:


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Mr. Lord.

MR. SMITH:  Perhaps, Members of the Panel, before Mr. Lord begins his cross-examination, I have been advised that Mr. Peterson wishes to make a slight clarification to something he indicated earlier, and subject to your views, I would propose that he give that now.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.  Mr. Peterson.

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.  Earlier I was asking asked a question regarding did we track the amount of energy consumed behind the meter at our stations.  I stand corrected that we apparently do track the amounts at our nuclear stations but we do not at our hydroelectric stations.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, if I may, that was a question from me.  And you may recall that I wanted to know the amounts consumed from 2007 to 2010.  And understanding it may only be tracked for nuclear, is it possible to provide those numbers?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I believe it is.

MR. MILLAR:  So I would oppose to give that undertaking J1.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5: to PROVIDE ENERGY CONSUMED BEHIND THE METER FROM 2007 TO 2010

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  That's fine, Members of the Panel.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Lord.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Lord:

MR. LORD:  Afternoon, panel.  I propose to cover about four topics in my cross-examination, beginning with the Niagara tunnel, speaking briefly then about the G9 frequency conversion project, delving back into the production forecast in SBG, and then finishing off with the incentive mechanisms, the hydroelectric incentive mechanism.

With respect to my questions regarding the Niagara tunnel, I am cognizant of the Board's third procedural order which addressed both the scope of its interest in this project during this proceeding and certain matters of confidentiality.  And I've tried to craft my questions in a way that respects what was in that procedural order, and should you feel that any of my responses pertain to confidential information, feel free to indicate so, and we won't pursue it.

So, beginning with Exhibit D1, tab 1, section -- oh, by the way, I've provided a compendium of the prefiled material that I'll be referring to.  So when I mention page numbers I'll be referring to the page numbers indicated in the bottom right-hand corner of that compendium.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, this will be Exhibit K1.3.  And it's compendium of materials from AMPCO.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  COMPENDIUM OF MATERIALS FROM AMPCO

MR. LORD:  So on page 13 of the compendium, which is an excerpt from D1, schedule 1, tab can you confirm that the original budget for the Niagara tunnel was approved back in July 28, 2005?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, I can confirm that.

MR. LORD:  And that that original budget was $985 million?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, I can confirm that.

MR. LORD:  Okay.  But that in May of 2009, OPG's board revised that budget; is that not correct?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. LORD:  To what they've described or what you've described at line 24 of the -- of page 13 as a cost estimate of $1.6 billion?

MR. MAZZA:  That is correct.

MR. LORD:  So that's a full $615 million higher than the approved budget in 2005; correct?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, I haven't added the numbers but that's correct, subject to check.

MR. LORD:  And the in-service date was also pushed out to December 2013?

MR. MAZZA:  That is correct.

MR. LORD:  And these revisions to the budget, correct me if I am wrong, occurred, though, after this Board issued its order in the previous proceeding, case 2007-0905?  Is that correct?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. LORD:  Okay.  Referring to page 19 of the compendium, which is your response to AMPCO's Interrogatory No. 9(c), you take the position that the original budget of $985 million is outside of the scope of prudence review, full stop, by the Board; is that correct?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. LORD:  And by virtue of Reg. 53/05?

MR. MAZZA:  Correct.

MR. LORD:  But this new $615 million will be within the scope of the Board's prudence review ultimately; correct?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. LORD:  And any subsequent amendments to the budgets, I take it, above $1.6 billion, if that should happen, would also be subject to prudence review?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.

MR. LORD:  Okay.  Flipping back to page 13 of the compendium, around line 23, you indicate that the Niagara tunnel budget for 2011 is $288 million, and for 2012 is $199 million; is that correct?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. LORD:  And what I'd like to understand is of that $288 million and $199 million, how much of that is net new money as approved by the Board in their amendment to the budget in May, and how much of that comprises part of the unreviewable original budget from 2005?

MR. MAZZA:  I don't have the amounts that you're seeking.  The analysis wasn't done that way.  The cost estimate was recast, so I'd have to get that information, I don't have it with me.

MR. LORD:  And would you undertake to provide for the Board what portion of the 2011 and 2012 budgets constitute new monies approved in May 2009?

MR. MAZZA:  Yeah, to the extent that the information is available, I could get that.

MR. LORD:  All right.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J1.6.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we'll provide that.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6: TO ADVISE WHAT PORTION OF THE 2011 AND 2012 BUDGETS CONSTITUTE NEW MONIES APPROVED IN MAY 2009

MR. LORD:  Now, turning to page 16, which is which is still in D1, tab 1, schedule 1, you noted that in 2009, capital spending was actually $133 million lower than expected; is that correct?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.  That is correct.

MR. LORD:  And you say -- you explain that it was caused because Strabag, who was the general contractor on the tunnel boring project, as I understand, was making much slower progress that it expected with the tunnel; right?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, the progress was slower than expected.

MR. LORD:  And part of that was because you had some rock overbreak and a failure of the tunnel liner?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, that was the majority of the reason for the slow progress.

MR. LORD:  But yet you refer sort of to a more general problem of difficult rock conditions that have been, for lack of a better word, plaguing the drilling project; is that correct?

MR. MAZZA:  Excuse me, could you repeat that question?

MR. LORD:  The slow progress you also attribute -- I mean, we've spoken specifically about the overbreak and the failure of the tunnel liner, but as a more general cause of the slow project, you refer to "difficult rock conditions," is that not correct?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.  The difficult rock conditions were mostly in the Queenston shale, as we report in the evidence.

MR. LORD:  And what exactly is meant by -- what has been difficult about these rock conditions?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, what is meant by being "difficult" is, is that the expectation was that the rock would not experience the overbreak that it did experience.  The initial estimate was based on continuing to -- to continue through the rock without any overbreak and supporting the area behind the machine with channels and anchors.  So the contractor experienced different conditions, and it didn't allow -- didn't allow him to do that.

MR. LORD:  In the planning stages of the project, my understanding is that several boreholes were made along the proposed route of the project; is that correct?

MR. MAZZA:  That is correct.

MR. LORD:  And was the purpose of those boreholes to see what lay beneath, in terms of rock?

MR. MAZZA:  The purpose of the boreholes had more than one function.  One of them was to determine the actual strength and condition of the rock.  The other was to determine the water conditions within the rock as well.  So there were a multitude of reasons for the boreholes.

MR. LORD:  But these boreholes then, as I understand it, did give you an opportunity to make an assessment of the rock condition before the actual boring of the tunnel began?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, it did.

MR. LORD:  And did those -- the samples -- I presume you take samples from the boreholes?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, we did.

MR. LORD:  Yeah.  Didn't suggest that there was Queenston shale present?

MR. MAZZA:  No, it did suggest that there's Queenston shale present.  It did suggest that.

MR. LORD:  All right.  And then, so understanding that there was Queenston shale present, did they not indicate properties of that shale that might be of concern with respect to overbreak and the need to reinforce the tunnel liner?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, at the time -- at the time the boreholes were taken, there wasn't any expectation of the rock behaving like it did.  We have mentioned this in some of these -- some of the interrogatories.  Basically, there were -- there were stress features within the tunnel that caused some of the thin bedding in the Queenston shale to fail just above the boring machine.  So we've alluded to those in several of the interrogatories that we submitted.

MR. LORD:  But -- so the bottom line seems to be that whatever information was gleaned from the boreholes, you're saying, was not sufficient to predict the type of problems you've had with the rock?

MR. MAZZA:  It was the best information that we could have obtained, considering the -- I guess, what was deemed to be, I guess, a correct -- in those days and now.  There's nothing more that we could have really done to estimate the conditions that we experienced.

MR. LORD:  Are there boreholes continuing along the proposed path, or at least in the vicinity of the proposed path of the part of the tunnel that has yet to be excavated?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, there are boreholes along the full alignment of the path.  I don't have them at hand.  They don't intersect the actual tunnel alignment that we're going through.

MR. LORD:  Having completed a part of the tunnel, having the information, or at least the baseline information you obtained from these boreholes, do you feel you have a better understanding of the rock conditions that you're facing on this project?

MR. MAZZA:  We have a better understanding for a multitude of reasons.  The boreholes is one.  We've actually experienced now the rock behaviour, the behaviour of the Queenston shale, and we've actually corrected or changed the alignment to go further up above the Queenston shale.

MR. LORD:  Does that mean that these difficult rock conditions that have been a problem thus far will not continue to be a problem?

MR. MAZZA:  We will not be going through the Queenston shale.  We are above the Queenston shale.  There are other layers of rock there that our geotechnical experts are looking at and have estimated what could be done or what could happen.

MR. LORD:  Are these the same geotechnical experts that didn't anticipate the difficult rock conditions in the first place?

MR. MAZZA:  No.  It's our -- it's basically the construction company, Strabag, and our owner's rep, so...

MR. LORD:  Okay.  All right.  Moving on to -- still on page 16 of the compendium, in 2009 -- and just as fair warning, this is one of the areas of my questioning where we'll have to be careful that you don't disclose confidential information.  But in 2009, OPG amended its contract with Strabag; is that correct?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, it did.

MR. LORD:  And that amendment was in part intended to account for, or at least react to some of the problems that you had experienced thus far in the project with respect to overbreak, tunnel liners, difficult rock conditions; is that correct?

MR. MAZZA:  Yeah.  It was to account for the past difficult rock conditions and an estimate of what the future expectations were along the alignment.

MR. LORD:  And that contract includes revised target costs and target schedules.  Is that not correct?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, it does.

MR. LORD:  Okay.  And you're comfortable, without disclosing exactly what those targets are, that they align with the capital budgets that you've proposed for 2011 and 2012?

MR. MAZZA:  Yeah, to the extent that the estimates on the rock behaviour and any other conditions that we're unaware of, I think the estimate has enough contingency in it to account for these conditions.

MR. LORD:  And the original Strabag contract was described as being for a fixed price with bonuses and liquidated damages -- sorry, this is in response to AMPCO IR No. 9(h).

But the new contract says that the tunnel be completed at cost, with incentives and disincentives tied to the target cost, target schedule, and flow capacity of the tunnel.

Without getting into the numbers, can you just confirm my understanding of the conceptual difference between a fixed-price contract and an at-cost contractual arrangement with Strabag?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, conceptually, the fixed price is, as it says, a fixed price, that the contractor basically will build something for that fixed price.

Target price is really a contract where you've -- we've -- an estimate is done and you have a price based on that estimate of the day that you will incur, based on the conditions you're expecting and based on the past conditions.  So that is really a target price.  But it's not fixed.

MR. LORD:  So ultimately, if you -- we can talk about incentives and disincentives in a moment, but sort of at a basic level, if you exceed that target cost, that is a cost that OPG will have to bear, subject to adjustments based on incentives and disincentives that we'll talk about?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.  Subject to the incentives that you're talking about.  True.

MR. LORD:  All right.  Can you describe again at a conceptual level the differences between the bonuses and liquidated-damages provisions in the old contract and the incentives and disincentives in the new contract, just so I understand them?

MR. MAZZA:  In the previous contract there were liquidated damages for the tunnel coming into service later than the agreed-to date with the contractor.  So there were liquidated damages for that.  Those do not exist in the new contract.  The disincentives, again, were related to the contractor not meeting the proposed schedule.

MR. LORD:  But disincentives are presumably financial disincentives, in terms of adjustments to amounts owing to the contractor?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.

MR. LORD:  Okay.  Particularly given that previously you were under a fixed-price arrangement and now you are under a target cost with some adjustments type of arrangement, would you agree that under the old arrangement more of the risk of running late or running over budget had been allocated to Strabag?

MR. MAZZA:  Yeah, under -- I mean, typically, under a fixed-price type regime, the contractor does bear more of the risk.

MR. LORD:  And under this new arrangement, OPG has agreed to accept more risk than it may have had to bear under the previous contractual arrangement?

MR. MAZZA:  Yeah, the risk was -- the new risk profile that OPG's decided to take was, again, related to some of the decisions that came out of the Dispute Review Board.  We had to take those into account in coming up with a new contract.  So we did look at the risks associated -- the risk profile for OPG, and deemed that to be the best approach.

MR. LORD:  And again, without getting into numbers, does that translate, then, into sort of greater contingency reserves or greater contingency budgeting on OPG's part under this new arrangement than there would have been under the previous arrangement?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, I would say that there is more contingency from a geotechnical standpoint, because we did experience, like, the conditions we did experience with the rock were unexpected.  But overall, we are putting -- we did put more contingency in our estimate, which has been -- yeah, the risk profile for a contingency, I think, was supplied through an interrogatory.

MR. LORD:  But the $1.6 billion budget approved in 2009, presumably includes a greater dollar value attributable to contingencies than did the original budget of 2005?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, it does.

MR. LORD:  Okay.  And I want to take just a particular example to satisfy myself and the Board that you're tracking these contingencies as we go along and are able to understand them.

If you would flip to page 21 of the compendium, which is your response to AMPCO IR No. 7, and it's Exhibit L, tab 2, schedule 7; where we had asked about the costs associated with the recent or somewhat recent failure of the tunnel lining.  And you estimated those would be about $2 million; is that correct?

MR. MAZZA:  That is correct.

MR. LORD:  Now, does that $2 million get -- does that form part of the progress towards the target cost under the new arrangement?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, that wouldn't have been directly included in the target costs.  It just -- the failed lining was an unexpected event, so it would be more included in a contingency portion of any estimate.

MR. LORD:  But when it comes time for Strabag to bill OPG for this particular piece of work, does that get included in their bill or not included in their bill?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, it does get included in their bill.

MR. LORD:  Okay.  And is there, again, speaking generally about the incentive and disincentive mechanisms built into the contract, is there any opportunity to recover some of that 2 million, if it causes the project to go late or over budget?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, if it's deemed to be due to the lack of performance of the contractor or what they are responsible for.  There is a provision in the contract for disallowed expenses.  So if a portion of this cost was due to the disallowed expense, I'd say, yes.

MR. LORD:  So just so I understand, then, the incentives and disincentives are tied to whether or not the contractor performs its obligations, not to externalities that may affect the project and timing of the -- or sorry, budget the timing of the project.

MR. MAZZA:  Well, the incentives are twofold.  One of them is to come in, come in -- one of the incentives is if the contractor does come in ahead of schedule, there is an incentive for that.

With regard to costs such as this, the incentive is to ensure that the contractor does everything in their means and methods to deal with the problem and rectify the problem.  But as far as the problem occurring, it's not within the contractor's risk.  It was a rock-related issue.

MR. LORD:  So rock-related issues are OPG's risk now?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, as stated we -- I can refer you to the business case, where OPG has retained the risk.  We have the risks that OPG is accountable for on, I believe, page -- I'll refer you to the right page here.  If you refer to page 8 of the business case for the Niagara tunnel.

MR. LORD:  Yeah.

MR. MAZZA:  It talks there about the risks that OPG has retained in the new contract.  And one of them is the risk due to unexpected geological conditions.

MR. SMITH:  Just for the sake of the record, it may be worth noting the exhibit number for the business case.

MR. MAZZA:  It's Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2.  And it's the first business case in that section, capital BCS's.

MR. LORD:  Thank you.  So, just to clarify my understanding, the $2 million for the tunnel liner failure is attributable to rock conditions and is therefore at OPG's risk.

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.  It was, yeah.

MR. LORD:  Okay.  All right.  I'll move on, then, to my second line of questioning, concerning the G9 frequency conversion project.

And to begin, I'll refer you to page 22 of the compendium which is Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2, at the tenth page of that schedule.  Sorry, are you there?

At line 22, the prefiled evidence says that the G9 upgrade is currently on schedule and on budget.  Is that correct?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, it is.

MR. LORD:  And that the budget is $32.1 million, with an in-service date of December of this year.

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. LORD:  I'd like to take you back to page 5 of the compendium, which is an excerpt from the Board's previous decision.  And there's a table there, table 3-4, entitled "Major hydroelectric capital projects not subject to O.Reg. 53/05".

And the first line of that table refers to this G9 upgrade project; correct?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, it does.

MR. LORD:  And shows a budget of $30 million, with an in-service date of 2009?

MR. MAZZA:  That is correct.

MR. LORD:  So, relative to -- when you say that the upgrade is currently on schedule and on budget, what you really mean is that the project is currently tracking $2.1 million over the original budget and albeit a year later than originally anticipated to come into service?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, what it means is it's relative to when the project was approved by OPG.  At the time of the last hearing that was -- there was no business case yet established for the -- for that particular project.  It was basically in concept phase.  And that was a concept phase level estimate that we refer to.

MR. LORD:  All right.  Turning to -- now, the fact that the budget referred to in the previous decision and your prefiled evidence here were different budgets, that wasn't expressly highlighted in the prefiled evidence, was it?  That was something that was revealed over the course of the interrogatories, as I recall?

MR. MAZZA:  Are you talking about in the last prefiled evidence?

MR. LORD:  No, I'm talking about the previous decision.  This is the table I just referred you to.

MR. MAZZA:  No, it's -- the only, the only information we've revealed is in the business case that I can refer you to here, which is in the exhibits -- sorry, not in the exhibits, but in our capital BCS sections, same as the Niagara tunnel.

MR. LORD:  All right.

MR. MAZZA:  It's the fourth business case in Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2.  So that will give you a history of the project and when it was released, and what the estimate for the project is.

MR. LORD:  Well, I guess our concern is making sure that particularly with these long capital projects, that the Board is aware of how not only the spending and expected time to completion is evolving but, really, how the budgets and projected in-service dates evolve when these projects may span multiple cost applications.

So I just want to confirm with you that there are no other hydroelectric project budgets that have been similarly tweaked since the last decision, and to the point where they're included in this evidence?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, I can't confirm that.  There are projects that the cost has changed.  Some of them are in the present evidence.  There are additional projects as well.  So on balance, though, we have a capital program that is based on the condition of the assets and at the time what the different levels of estimating, I guess, for each project is.  And that's explained, in fact, in our project management process, where it explains the various aspects, various stages of a project.

So whenever we do a filing, it would be based on different levels of estimates, different levels of condition assessment.  And as the process evolves, we get better information.

MR. LORD:  And would you agree with me that, where a particular project was dealt with in a previous application, and is dealt with again in the current application, that it's helpful to the Board to provide them not only with the latest information but with the identification of things that have changed with respect to budgeting, so that they know they're always comparing apples to apples from application to application?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, we did provide -- we did provide the information that we thought was relevant in this filing.

MR. LORD:  Okay.

MR. MAZZA:  It is useful, I guess, to provide information from the past.

MR. LORD:  Yeah.  Could you flip now to page 23 of the compendium, please, and in particular to your response to AMPCO interrogatory 8(b)?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, I have that in front of me.

MR. LORD:  Okay.  Which dealt with, in part, the change in projected in-service date for G9, and the reasons why that in-service date was changed.  And in your response, you say -- you mention that part of the reason that the G9 in-service date was pushed out to December of this year was because the tunnel project is now going to be completed later than originally anticipated; right?

MR. MAZZA:  That isn't entirely correct.  The tunnel project is really -- we basically looked at the status of the tunnel, and in making the decision on G9, we did take that into account.  One of the main reasons for deferring that project was there were some lessons learned from the Sir Adam Beck G7 project, which did experience some issues on commissioning.

So a decision was made in combination with the fact that the tunnel was going to be later to defer G9 and reflect on the lessons learned from the G7 project.  And we have supplied, actually, in the technical conference those lessons learned.

MR. LORD:  But in your response to AMPCO Interrogatory 8(b) you say that it was, and I'm quoting now:
"It was decided that unnecessarily compressing the unit upgrade schedules with additional engineering resources, additional construction crews, as well as overlapping unit outages, was not preferable from a cost or resourcing perspective."

Which I would take to mean that, while you had some lessons to learn from G7, you also had a bit more breathing room to, as you say, reflect on those lessons learned.  Is that fair?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, we did.  It's fair.  But the other reason is it is difficult to overlap units as well.  As we say, there isn't -- there wasn't any real good reason to overlap the units and incur additional cost.  There's also room constraints at the site, which make the situation more difficult to do -- to do the upgrades sooner.

MR. LORD:  Okay.  I'd like to move on then to the production forecast, if you don't mind, which I understand we've had several questions on already today, so I will do my best to avoid any duplication.

Turning to page 25 of the compendium, right at the top, I just wanted to confirm that your forecasted surplus base load generation is .2 terawatt-hours this year, half a terawatt-hour next year, and .8 terawatt-hours in 2012; that's correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LORD:  Oh, Mr. Peterson.  And over lunch -- before lunch you were asked if you knew how we were doing in 2010.  Did you have an opportunity to figure that out over lunch, or is that still subject to your undertaking?

MR. SMITH:  It's still subject to the undertaking, although I believe we may be able to get it for the afternoon break, but -- I'm optimistic, but it may be that it's -- it's just not ready yet, is the bottom line.

MR. LORD:  Okay.  Well, I'll come back to that if the opportunity presents itself.

Turning then back a page to 24, still in E1, tab 1, schedule 1, the pre-filed evidence states that significant SBG is forecast to continue through the test period based on Ontario electricity and generation supply forecasts; correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. LORD:  What demand and generation supply forecasts do you use when estimating or forecasting SBG?  Or whose forecasts do you use?

MR. PETERSON:  These are OPG-based forecasts.

MR. LORD:  Entirely OPG-based?  I think you mentioned this morning that you make reference to the IESO's forecast.

MR. PETERSON:  Certainly inputs that go into our forecast are based on information from other sources.

MR. LORD:  So is it inputs, sort of data points are maybe drawn then from things like the IESO forecast, run through your proprietary model, and you arrive at your own conclusions about SBG forecasts?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I think we have more specific references in the evidence and in interrogatories as to what inputs we use from external agencies.

MR. LORD:  As you may recall from positions AMPCO took in the previous hearing, we're a big fan of benchmarking.  Do you benchmark your forecasts against things like the IESO's forecasts or those produced by other players in the Ontario market?  I'm talking specifically about your SBG forecasts.

MR. PETERSON:  Not that I'm aware of, and I'm not aware of any other forecasts against which we could benchmark it.

MR. LORD:  Okay.  I'd like then to turn to a document that I provided your counsel and hope to enter as evidence, which is the IESO's 18-month outlook, dated August of this year.

MR. MILLAR:  Absent any objections, that will be Exhibit K1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  18-MONTH OUTLOOK OF IESO DATED AUGUST 2010.

MR. LORD:  And I'd like to first flip -- and this will be more for your information than to ask questions about it -- but to section 6.0 of that document, which begins at page 18.  And just to note for your reference, that it appears the IESO does consider or does try to predict SBG as part of these rolling 18-month outlooks?  They discuss it specifically there.

Without asking you to comment on it, would you acknowledge that seems to be what they're talking about on...?

MR. PETERSON:  In a minimal detail level, yes, that's what it's referring to.

MR. LORD:  Okay.  Earlier today there was some discussion about the types of variables that are relevant to your SBG forecast, including everything from weather conditions to demand forecasts to supply forecasts; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. LORD:  Could you please flip back to page 8 of this IESO document?

MR. PETERSON:  I have that here.

MR. LORD:  And in particular table 4.2, entitled "Committed and Contracted Generation Resources"

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. LORD:  Sorry, on page 7 this is described, and I'll read it into the record, as:

“Table 4 summarizes generation that is scheduled to come into service, be upgraded or shut down within the Outlook period."


Being the 18 months looking forward from the date of this report.


Have you had an opportunity just to look quickly through to familiarize yourself with table 4.2?

MR. PETERSON:  I have looked at it very quickly.

MR. LORD:  Very quickly.  Okay.  Could you look specifically about halfway down the table.  There is an entry regarding "Bruce Unit 2".

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. LORD:  With an estimated effective date being the in-service date of Q3 of 2011 and with a planned capacity of 750 megawatts?  And also a few more lines down, Bruce Unit 1, in-service of 2011-Q4, with an additional capacity of 750 megawatts.

Would you agree that these specific planned -- these specific planned units are irrelevant to your SBG forecast?

MR. PETERSON:  Our SBG forecast was based on information from the IESO's 18-month outlook dated August 2009.  Certainly this was one of the inputs.

MR. LORD:  Okay.  And looking at this table, which is updated with data, I guess, a year later than the data used in preparing your forecast, at the very bottom of the table, there's a net increase of capacity expected in the coming 18 months of just over 1400 megawatts.  Would you agree that's what it says there?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.  That seems to be the plan number.

MR. LORD:  And that Bruce Unit 1 and Unit 2 together account for 1500 megawatts, some of which is offset by --primarily by the shutting down of the coal stations; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LORD:  So, in terms of a net new addition of 1400 megawatts, Bruce Unit 1 and Unit 2 are a really big part of the picture in the next 18 months; would you agree?

MR. PETERSON:  Certainly they're fairly large generators, yes.

MR. LORD:  And the in-service dates of Q3 2011, and Q4 2011, are those the same in-service dates you assumed when preparing your forecast?

MR. PETERSON:  I would have to check.

MR. LORD:  Could you undertake to check, please?  Specifically, could you undertake to confirm that in the preparation of your SBG forecast, the in-service date for Bruce Unit 1 was Q4 2011, and for Bruce Unit 2 was Q3 2011?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we'll do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7: to CONFIRM THAT IN THE PREPARATION OF the SBG FORECAST, THE IN-SERVICE DATE FOR BRUCE UNIT 1 WAS Q4 2011, AND FOR BRUCE UNIT 2 WAS Q3 2011

MR. LORD:  And if those -- not to cast any aspersions on the people at Bruce, but if those in-service dates were to slip, could that have a material impact on your SBG forecast?

MR. PETERSON:  It would be fair to say that any changes could have a material impact.

MR. LORD:  All right.  And certainly if they're different from the data you used from a year ago, it could have a material impact?

MR. PETERSON:  It could.

MR. LORD:  Not confining this just to Bruce Units 1 and 2, but would you be in a position, if such a material impact were anticipated, to adjust your SBG forecast before this panel is asked to render its final decision in this case, if it had a material impact on your forecast?

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, Mr. Lord, I was just taking a note so I only caught the second half of your question.  If you could just ask it again.  Thank you.

MR. LORD:  Sorry.  My question is if the in-service dates for Bruce Unit 1 or 2 are different from the data you used or we subsequently learn that they're going to slip, would OPG be prepared to file an updated SBG forecast based on that newer and better information?

MR. SMITH:  The concern I have with the request is, obviously in any cost-of-service proceeding, there is a time period at which you have to prepare your evidence, and it is prepared at a certain time.  The same question could be asked in almost -- in respect of almost everything that's in OPG's application.  Could you update it to have regard to more information, more current information?  Presumably the answer to that question is always, well, yes, we could update our application over, and over, and over again.

So the concern I have is more of a generic one rather than in relation to this specific line item.  I don't know how much work it would be, and would be involved for SBG specifically.  Presumably it could be done.  But I do have a directional concern about a cut-off time period in being asked to do this.  Obviously we’re in the first panel; that this could get asked over and over again is my concern.

MR. LORD:  Appreciating your more general concern, we'd be prepared to narrow the request, really, to have OPG look at its year-old inputs from IESO versus certainly what's in the August 18-month outlook, and depending on how this hearing goes, there will be another outlook in November, but certainly against the August 2010 outlook.  And if there is anything that jumps out as being a hugely material change to the forecast, we'd ask for an update.

MR. SMITH:  Well, why don't we do this.  Why not, at the afternoon break -- I don't know what the answer to what's going to be involved in preparing an update but why don't we take a look at how simple or how difficult that is.  And I will come back with information on that, and if my friend wants to ask the question – this panel won’t be done even if his cross-examination is - and we’ll be able to provide a bit more information on that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Let's proceed on that basis.

MR. LORD:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair -- right here.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, Mr. DeRose.

MR. DeROSE:  Again, just to reserve a placeholder, I think once after the break we get that information, I suspect other counsel, I certainly would, have some views on whether they should or should not, more specifically should, update it.

So I just want to, I guess, highlight the fact that there may be people other than Mr. Lord supporting that request.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.  We'll look forward to that.

MR. LORD:  So let's move on to the hydro incentive mechanism, then.  I won't recap what was discussed this morning, but I would like to refer you to page 11 of the compendium I've provided, which takes us back into the Board's order in the previous proceeding in which the Board asks, and I quote:
"OPG to present a review of the mechanism,” being the hydroelectric incentive mechanism, “at the next proceeding."

I want to talk about the review of the hydroelectric incentive mechanism that you've performed, and we can start at page 29 of the compendium, specifically section 3.3 of Exhibit E1, tab 2, schedule 1.

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I have that here.

MR. LORD:  And in that section, you look at what are described as two representative metrics, an analysis of the hours of PGS utilization, and some analysis of price spreads; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LORD:  And those two representative metrics were intended to help the Board understand the impact of the incentive structure on OPG's operating decisions; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LORD:  Looking at utilization first, which is your first metric, from December 1st, 2008 to December 31st, 2009, the prefiled evidence concludes that the PGS station generated for 44 percent of the time, pumped for 27 percent of the time, and just doing some quick arithmetic, was idle for the remaining 29 percent of the time?  Is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. LORD:  And the prefiled evidence -- let me just get the line reference right here.  Beginning at line 15 of page 29 of the compendium, you say that:
"This” -- being the metric I just described -- "demonstrates that under the incentive mechanism, the PGS appropriately operates in accordance with the financial signals provided by the forecast of on/off-peak price spreads."

Is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. LORD:  And you continue to track this metric in 2010, do you, or will you be in a position to report on it at the end of 2010?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, we do continue to track it.

MR. LORD:  And again in 2011 and 2012.

I want to -- I had a bit of trouble understanding exactly the import of this metric, and was hoping that you could maybe cast some light on what we're to draw from these percentages.  And I'll do that -- I propose to do that by way of offering some hypotheticals and asking how these hypotheticals might influence your operating decisions.

So if, in 2010, it proves to be the case that the overall utilization of the PGS was more than 71 percent, as it was in the previous year, would you say that the impact of the hydroelectric incentive mechanism on your operating decisions was more or less effective than in the previous year?

MR. PETERSON:  I don't think you could suggest that it was either.  It's just there are more or less opportunities in which to utilize the incentive mechanism.

MR. LORD:  So asking sort of a similar question, if the -- what was it, 44 percent of generation time and 27 percent of pumping time, if those percentages changed, you wouldn't be able to draw any conclusions about the relative effectiveness of the incentive mechanism in that year?

MR. PETERSON:  I think we were, with this evidence, just trying to demonstrate that there's a high percentage of utilization of the PGS.

MR. LORD:  Oh, it certainly demonstrates that.  I'm just questioning as to what understanding it provides the Board of whether or not the mechanism is useful.

We can turn to the second metric that you offer up.  And I'd like to direct you to pages 30 and 31 of the compendium, which are again from Exhibit E1, tab 2, schedule 1.  And there's a table 1 on page 30 that deals with the price spreads between generation and pump operation.  And there's a chart 1 that deals with price spreads between generation and pump operation.

Is it correct that table -- or, sorry, that chart 1 is just a graphical representation of table 1?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. LORD:  Just to make sure I understand that.  Okay.

Turning to page 31, the paragraph -- second paragraph below the chart, you say that:
"The magnitude of the difference between market on/off-peak price spread..."

Which in chart 1 are the left-most of each of the bars, correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Correct.

MR. LORD:  That that difference:
"The difference between that value and the weighted price spread is directly related to the success associated with placing the greatest volume of PGS generation in the most appropriate price hours."

Correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Correct.

MR. LORD:  So is it the case that, looking at any particular month in chart 1, the sort of the bigger the gap between the left bar and the right bar, the more effective the mechanism has been in that month?  Is that what that's trying to show?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, it's trying to demonstrate that we took opportunities that were greater than the average, that the times in which we either pumped or generated, those price spreads were greater than what the average for the month were.

MR. LORD:  I want to look at, just as an illustration, sort of zoom in and focus on the numbers for February and the numbers for August.  The market on/off-peak price spread in February was -- and the actual number is in table 1 -- was $14.2 per megawatt-hour, and in August was $14.3 per megawatt-hour.  Is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. LORD:  So those are very close, in terms of market on/off-peak price spreads, right?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. LORD:  Then we look at the production-weighted price spread for those months, and in February it's 31.7, so more than double.  But in August it's only $19.8 per megawatt-hour; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.

MR. LORD:  So again, just trying to understand what this metric is telling us and telling the Panel.  Does that mean that the incentive mechanism was more effective in August than it was in February -- or, sorry, in February than it was in August?

MR. PETERSON:  Not necessarily.  Depends on the price spreads at the month.

MR. LORD:  So could it be the case that there is some other explanatory variable that's driving the difference between the bars in chart 1 other than just the incentive mechanism?

MR. PETERSON:  No, I wouldn't say that.  It's more a case of what the -- because PGS responds to very short-run differences in price, different months of the year will produce different opportunities.

MR. LORD:  So the month of the year is relevant to the opportunity?

MR. PETERSON:  Sorry, the prevailing prices of the month in question would be relevant.  You may still pump and "gen" exactly the same amount in those two months, it's just that there may have been a greater number of hours in which the price spread was greater than the other month.  The actual volume may be the same.  But your ability to hit the maximum price spreads was greater in one month than the other, or perhaps the opportunity was greater in one month as opposed to the other.

MR. LORD:  It sounds somewhat complicated and maybe not entirely captured by what's in chart 1, at least to my understanding.

I did have some questions about the $1.14 net benefit, but I think those were adequately covered this morning, so those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Lord.  Mr. Faye, I have you next.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Before I start, I just wanted to correct an error on my part on time estimate.  We had originally requested an hour and a half, and when Board Staff checked with me this morning, in light of what I knew Mr. Millar was going to be covering, I reduced that time to 45 minutes, mistakenly thinking that that was all my time.  But Mr. Rubin is here and has some questions on incentive regulation, so with the Board's indulgence, we would ask that our original time estimate be restored.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Oh, I don't know if we're symmetrical.  That's quite all right, Mr. Faye.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  All right.  I --


MS. CHAPLIN:  We'll proceed -- perhaps if you'd find a convenient time to break around 3:30, 3:15.

MR. FAYE:  I think I'd probably be done my part by 3:30, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Panel, I want to take you to two of Energy Probe's IRs, and one refers on to a Board Staff IR.  So we're going to be looking at L-6-20.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Faye, generally it would be helpful - and for all parties, I should add this - if you could give the issue number as well, because most people have copies of the IRs that are sort of by issue, as well as by number.

MR. FAYE:  Oh, yes, of course.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's something I forgot as well.  So don't think I'm picking on you.

MR. FAYE:  I would never think that.

This is Issue 4.2, and the first IR is Exhibit L, tab 6, schedule 20.  That response refers us on to a response to a Board Staff IR, same issue, 4.2, and Exhibit L, tab 1, schedule 18.  And closely related to those is another Energy Probe IR, same issue, 4.2, and that would be Exhibit L, tab 6, schedule 24.  So all three of those are going to have some play in this.

If you could let me know when you have those up, panel.

MR. SHEA:  I have those up.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.  In the response to Board Staff 18, there's a little, in my view, a little confusion around the origins of this Saunders visitors centre.  And I wonder if you could just describe in a little more detail and answer the specific question:  Was the centre originated by OPG and presented to the community?  Or did the community ask OPG to prepare the centre?

MR. SHEA:  What happened was really a synergy of both ideas, where OPG had formerly had an information centre on the 6th floor of the administration building located right within the facility.

We always had an interest in being able to promote the company's brand image and the various programs that are stipulated in the business case.  When it shut down, we reduced our public affairs program to a minimalist level, and we were conducting tours on an invitation-only basis.

So we always had an interest in continuing that kind of activity.  We just didn't have a proper venue to conduct it.  And of course, you know, as we reference in the business case, in the post 9/11 world, having the option of rejuvenating the 6th floor information centre was no longer an option for us, whether we wanted to consider it or not, because of security concerns.

So, basically we were always interested in doing something eventually.  And at the same time, city of Cornwall was interested in having us do something.  So I think it would be fair to say that we were both interested in doing something.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you for that.

On page 2 of that Board Staff IR response, there's some material in the first paragraph that talks about what other stakeholders might use the centre for.  And of course the first use is for OPG to highlight its generating facilities.  I expect that you would be highlighting more than just the Saunders plant in that kind of a display?

MR. SHEA:  There is some reference to some limited floor space that's dedicated to the other generating technologies.  It's a relatively small area in the visitors centre.  You know, by far the majority of the floor space and the exhibits are aimed at how the Saunders generating facility fits into the construction of the St. Lawrence Seaway.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, and then moving on to the next sentence there, in line 4, “the development/construction of the St. Lawrence Seaway.”  Would I be right in assuming that the Saunders plant is a significant but not the biggest part of the seaway construction project?  Or is that wrong?

MR. SHEA:  Well, I think -- I agree with the first part of that statement in that it's a very significant part of the construction of the seaway.

I wouldn't want to hazard a guess as to what percentage of, or what proportion it represents of the entire project.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, but the seaway stretches a long distance down.  It has a number of lochs.  That kind of thing is involved in the construction, not just a dam for the Saunders plant; am I right?

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So when you say that it's going to provide a venue for local stakeholders to deliver information regarding their areas of interest, is that areas of interest vis-à-vis the seaway construction or areas of interest for other community events?

MR. SHEA:  It's a little of both.  You know, could be used to talk about things that are relevant to the seaway construction, for instance, the Lost Villages Preservation Society, you know, speaks to what happened when they flooded that area.

But it also allows for the community stakeholders to hold other events, using portions of the facility for that.

MR. FAYE:  Does OPG have a plan to review the kinds of other material that might be presented by community groups?  Do you get a final say saying you cannot use that material here?

MR. SHEA:  Yes.  Absolutely.

MR. FAYE:  On the next paragraph, starting at line 11:
"The campaign for waterways public safety."

Mr. Millar touched on this this morning.  I won't re-cover his ground, but in another excerpt, which I believe is part of the next -- of L-6-24, there's an excerpt from Mr. Murphy's speech.  And he refers to the delivery of the waterways public safety program.

As I understand it, a component of that is to go into schools and present to children your safety message of how to avoid getting into trouble; is that right?

MR. SHEA:  Yeah, that is one component of it.  We have done that in the past.

MR. FAYE:  What are the other components of that waterway safety program?

MR. SHEA:  There's advertising in the media, both in radio and – well, radio and newspaper and television advertisements.  So there is media advertisement.

There are other forms of outreach, including even going down when our security staff come upon people who are perhaps inadvertently trespassing, there is an opportunity to educate them, giving them handouts and brochures.  So that is a lot of it too.  So in other words, although the school children is a major part of that education, it's not exclusively for schools.

MR. FAYE:  Is the Saunders centre going to take the place of any of those methods of communication?

MR. SHEA:  The only area where it has the potential to do that is that, instead of us sending a public affairs person out to the school to do a presentation, we invite the schools that are within driving distance of the Cornwall area to come in and essentially get the same presentation in our facility.

So that's the only part that might be altered.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And would you say that you reach more people with your television and radio and other media advertising on this than you would through in-centre presentations?

MR. SHEA:  The -- you know, we have watersheds all over the province.  You know, we're only talking about certain prescribed facilities in this hearing.  But the television ads, obviously, they reach out to, you know, everyone who receives the television signal.  So obviously the potential audience is huge.

The Cornwall centre, it will -- you know, it will serve to reach the people who live in the vicinity there, but also tourists who come through the area.  It's a fairly busy area, being right on the 401 corridor.

MR. FAYE:  That brings me to a little discussion on L-6-24 as to who you expect to be the visitors.  Now, we asked how many you thought you might get, and you weren't able to give us a number.  But you said you expected it to be very popular.

And I wonder if there's any way you can quantify this for the Board to give them an idea of how much impact this centre will have on delivering the messages you expect to deliver.  Are you looking at a million visitors a year?

MR. SHEA:  No, certainly we're not looking at a million visitors a year.  We do not have any specific numbers, but, no, a million is too big a number.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Could we whittle it down to, is it 100,000 then?  Am I getting close?  You must have an expectation in your planning.

MR. SHEA:  We don't have -- as I said earlier, we don't have any specific numbers.  But, yeah, 100,000 would be too big a number also.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, well, we won't keep beating on that, but we now know it's under 100,000.  Good.  That gives us a measure of magnitude.

In one or more of the exhibits that we have up, there's mention of your relationship with the Akwesasne Mohawk Nation.  And I wonder if you can describe the -- what's their particular interest in the Saunders plant?  Is it on their property?

MR. SHEA:  There was a recent land claim settlement between OPG and the Mohawks of the Akwesasne.  So there was a land claim.

MR. FAYE:  And that's settled now?

MR. SHEA:  Yes.  Well, when I say it's settled, the agreement has been signed and there are a number of provisions that are just being put into place at this time.

MR. FAYE:  And does it mean that OPG has some obligations for the land or the water that the Saunders plant is on?

MR. SHEA:  There are a number of obligations, including promoting cultural events and, you know, providing financial assistance for training and employment opportunities for the Mohawks.

MR. FAYE:  Is this settlement in the public domain yet?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHEA:  I believe it is not.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Well, at least it gives us an understanding of what the interaction between the Akwesasne group was.

Now, overall, the water safety message, the historical contribution of hydroelectric power to the province's development, this is a broad topic that's not confined just to Saunders or Beck or any of the other regulated facilities; right?

MR. SHEA:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  So I want so ask you a question that Mr. Millar, I think, posed and I don't think he -- he certainly didn't get the answer he wanted to hear.

Why do you charge all this to your regulated facilities?  Why shouldn't the rest of your hydroelectric facilities at least bear some of the cost?

MR. SHEA:  The only reason for locating the centre in the city of Cornwall is because of that facility being there.  So the regulated facility is the reason for it being in that location.

The majority of the floor space, with only a couple of exceptions, you know, as we've already talked about, has to do with the construction of the facility and the seaway, and all the programs that are directly related to it:  the First Nations Mohawks of the Akwesasne, our biodiversity programs, environmental programs that relate directly to that station.

So the majority of the exhibits and, therefore, the usefulness of the facility is directly attributable to that particular asset.

MR. FAYE:  I think that is the answer that Mike got, but he didn't like it, I don't think.

You say the majority of it.  Well, that's 50 percent or more.  What about the minority portion?  Why shouldn't that part of the cost be picked up by your unregulated part of the company?

MR. SHEA:  You know, the exhibits that are perhaps company-wide, if that's where you're going, you know, obviously we're going to present a message for that facility that is consistent with the corporate message.  So the water-safety message is as true for Saunders as it is for the rest of the hydroelectric assets.

So that's why we would put in a section for the water-safety message, because it does relate directly to the Saunders facility.  But of course, it's consistent with the company message with respect to water safety.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Back directly on L-6-24.  We asked you about these payments in lieu of taxes, the GRC.  And we understood this to be the source of whatever lack of community support or falling off of community support that you had experienced.  And I wonder if that's still a fair characterization.

Is the fact that the community was not getting the amount of payments in lieu from the provincial government the main source of any discontent between them and yourselves?

MR. SHEA:  Well, I can't speak for the city of Cornwall, but it certainly was communicated to us that this was a significant issue for them.

MR. FAYE:  And have they mentioned any other issues?

MR. SHEA:  Not that I'm aware of.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So in Mr. Murphy's speech he makes the case that this isn't your problem.  This is a Ministry of Finance problem.  And so I wanted to ask you, how is the centre going to help solve a problem that wasn't yours in the first place?

MR. SHEA:  Well, unfortunately we get dragged into it, in the sense that, you know, we have to -- in order to support the continuing operation of that facility in that community, we have to continue to have good relations with them.  So although we didn't start the issue, we are certainly part of it.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So on that same theme, I understand that it's not your issue.  I believe Mr. Murphy probably characterized it correctly.  But you have direct access to the ministerial level at the government.  Did you take that issue to them and say, 'Can you please get Cornwall off our backs by giving them what they should be getting through the payments in lieu'?

MR. MAZZA:  Yeah, maybe I'll answer that question.  There were communications between our company and the Ministry back when the issue, I guess, came -- or re-arose, I guess, in 2006-2007, in that time period.  There were discussions, and there were meetings held with the city of Cornwall and the various ministers.

It involves more than one Ministry, including Ministry of Finance and Ministry of Natural Resources.  The exact nature of those discussions I don't have.

MR. FAYE:  But did you get some sort of indication that they would try to resolve the situation so that you weren't stuck in the middle?

MR. MAZZA:  I can't answer that question.

MR. FAYE:  But would you be able to undertake just to give a thumbnail sketch of the results of those discussions with the ministers?  I'll tell you why I think this is relevant.  Building a $12 million information centre doesn't appear to be going to solve the problem that sparked the friction between you and the community, and it seems a much more direct route.  You can go to the minister and ask him to fix it up for you.  That's why I think this is relevant to the hearing.

MR. MAZZA:  Well, of course, that was one of the positions that OPG --


MR. SMITH:  Go ahead.

MR. MAZZA:  That is, of course, the position that OPG held at the time.  And it was part of discussions.  But I wasn't privy to the discussions that were actually held.

MR. FAYE:  Oh, okay.  So then all I'm asking is, what was the outcome of those discussions?  Did the provincial government say they would do something, or the provincial government say, 'No, we're not going to change anything we're doing'?

MR. SMITH:  We'll provide that.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J1.8.


And Mr. Faye, that's to provide -- maybe I'll let you repeat the undertaking.

MR. FAYE:  To provide the outcome of contact with the Minister of Finance and the Minister of Energy about resolving a conflict with the community of Cornwall on the payments in lieu of taxes due to them from the provincial government.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  TO PROVIDE THE OUTCOME OF CONTACT WITH THE MINISTER OF FINANCE AND MINISTER OF ENERGY RE:  RESOLVING CONFLICT WITH CORNWALL ON PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES DUE THEM FROM THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT.

MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry to interrupt, but -- it's Mr. DeRose here again.  I seem to be interrupting.  But would we be able to expand -- otherwise I'm just going to ask it later.  Would we be able to expand that undertaking, that if there are written correspondence between OPG and the minister's office on this particular issue -- that is, if you could provide the written correspondence on this issue rather than just a summary of the outcome, subject to confidentiality, obviously.

MR. FAYE:  The -- we're done with that topic now?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Smith is --


MR. SMITH:  Well, I'm thinking about it from the perspective that we're now into a time period prior to this Board's regulation of OPG, which is what is pausing me -- causing me to pause.  Certainly I am prepared to provide the output, but the extent to which there is back-and-forth, I'm not sure that it's either, A), necessary, or B), something that we should be ordered to produce.

MR. DeROSE:  Could I just provide the rationale why we'd like to see the written, which is, depending on what specifically the request was from OPG and what the response of the minister was, I submit is relevant to whether these costs are or are not appropriately borne by ratepayers, in the sense that -- and I will put this out hypothetically.  If the ministry directed OPG or urged them to build this because then they would not have to deal with Cornwall directly, that seems to have a political purpose that really doesn't contribute directly to the regulated business, in the sense of providing safe, reliable electricity.

So I simply -- I mean, it's -- we don't know what's in the communications.  At the very least, I think Mr. Crawford should at least -- or, sorry, Mr. Smith should at least review the documents before he takes a position one way or the other.

MR. SMITH:  That seems sensible.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  So as it stands now, there will be an answer to the -- there will be an answer regarding a summary of the outcome of the discussions.  And OPG is going to review the associated correspondence and will advise whether they are prepared to enter them or not, and if you're not prepared to, we will then have the argument then as to whether they will be or not --


MR. SMITH:  Yes, and I'll certainly advise if there is correspondence or not, because I don't know the answer to that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. FAYE:  And Madam Chair, I have one more relatively brief area to question on.  And it's going involve two pages of Exhibit F1, tab 1, schedule 1, and unfortunately on my copy I don't see the issue number at the top of that page.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, if it's in F, that's -- we don't need -- we only need the issue number for interrogatory answers.

MR. FAYE:  Oh, okay.  And if you could turn up page 18 and page 19 of that exhibit.  Again, that was F1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 18 and 19.  All right with that, panel?

MR. SHEA:  Yes.  Go ahead.

MR. FAYE:  The first table is a Navigant consulting hydroelectric benchmarking results.  And when I look down the 2008 results column, I see for DeCew Falls Q4, DeCew Falls 2, Q3; Beck 1, Q4; Beck 2, Q1; pump storage, Q4, and Saunders Q3.  Have I referenced all those correctly?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, you have.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, so I understand Q1 is good, Q4 isn't so good.  But when I look at the five OPG plants as above, without Beck pump storage in there, all of a sudden, where before there was only one Q1, now collectively they're all in Q1.  And I don't understand how you could take less than average results, Q3-Q4, and collectivize them in some way that they all come out at Q1.  Could you elaborate on that?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, some of the issues that some of the stations have are explained in the evidence.  The DeCew Falls number 1 station, it is a very old station, so it is going to be difficult to get it into a higher quartile.  As you can see, it's pretty well in the Q4 regime, due to its older age.

With regard to DeCew Falls, the reason why it was in a lower quartile was because of the work that was going on during the 2006-2008 time period.  So the expectation is that it is going to be back to Q2 or Q1.

Sir Adam Beck number 1, well, that station is undergoing a major rehab as we speak, so you can see in the evidence that we are spending a lot of money to bring that station back to a reliable level.

And of course Sir Adam Beck number 2 is in the Q2.  When you look at things overall and the issues that each station has, as we presented them, collectively the stations are performing quite well.  And when you take into account the reliability of the stations, if you look at it in that context, and you look at that, we think that assessment is correct.

MR. FAYE:  I guess I was interested more in how you do the math here.  If I look down the source and peer group column, in each of those plants, there's comparators.  There's 25 for DeCew Falls 1 and there's 42 for DeCew Falls 2.  I assume that they added all those up to get down to the five OPG plants collectively, compared to 166 plans.  Those 166 plants, are they the sum of the plants above?

MR. MAZZA:  No, they're not necessarily the sum.  The benchmarking is done, for each individual plant, is done by peer group, which is a function of the capacity of the plant, the age of the plant and other factors.

When Haddon Jackson, or now called Navigant, looks at that collective benchmarking, they gave us the results of that collective benchmarking, it considered 166 plants when you exclude PGS, and 190 plants when you include the PGS.

So it's not necessarily the same set of plants.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That at least --


MR. MAZZA:  It's not a pure --


MR. FAYE:  -- explains why the math can't be done on the numbers you presented here.  But the question still remains.  You got a whole bunch of these plants.  You've only got one, Beck 2, is the only one that falls in the top quartile of OM&A unit energy cost, and everything else is below the median.  And I don't understand how the sample could be so different that all of a sudden you still come out at top quartile when you started off with a bunch of plants below median.  How do you reckon that up?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, as I mentioned, when you look at plants individually on where they sit now, there are issues that we are addressing with some of the plants.  Also, some of the -- the benchmarking is not a precise science.  That's the other issue here.  That's why we've also included some of the EUCG benchmarking and when you look at that, the results are coming out more favourable as well.

So, again, as I say, when you look at things collectively as a whole, and you look at different benchmarking groups and different benchmarking samples, we feel -- and when you consider reliability in the equation, we feel that we've benchmarked very well.

MR. FAYE:  Yeah, and this chart, admittedly, only talks about OM&A costs, and that's all I was really asking you about.  Reliability is another issue.  And correct me if I am wrong, but the five OPG plants as above, with PGS excluded, that first quartile performance is strictly on OM&A unit costs, am I right there?

MR. MAZZA:  Yeah, this table shows OM&A unit costs.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And so I won't belabour the point, but I still don't think I understand how you take a bunch of poorly performing plants, collectivize them, and end up in the top quartile.  But we've leave that go for now.  I'll address it in argument.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Mazza, could I -- would it at all be influenced by the relative size of Sir Adam Beck?  In other words, if it's better performing and substantially larger than the others, would that kind of bring up the overall performance in the way these are measured?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, there are economies of scale in each type of asset.  So as I stated, the way they set up the peer group, you have smaller plants that have different economies of scale than the larger plants.

So when you compare the Sir Adam Beck 1 against its peers which are a similar size --


MS. CHAPLIN:  No, that's not what we're trying to understand.  What we're trying to understand is, looking at the second-to-last line, which is the five OPG plants, so it's the benchmarking of the five plants, not including the pump storage generating station.  And it's showing Q1 performance.  So those five all together.

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  But as Mr. Faye has pointed out, the individual ones are lower.  So what I'm trying to understand is, is the Sir Adam Beck one bringing up, in a sense, bringing up the average because it is so much larger or are you not in a position to explain how that line has actually been derived?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, again, I'm not in a position to explain --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. MAZZA: -- but it could be one of the factors.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So it's a weighted average, in effect.

MR. MAZZA:  It's not a weighted average.  As I said, they compare the collective set of hydro plants to the full database of 166 plants and we don't have the core details of that data.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, when you get that number of 3.3 of the 5 OPG plants above, I assume that's a weighted average or 2.6 in 2006 and 2.8 in 2007 and 3.3 in 2008.  Is that a weighted average of the five plants above based on the generating capacity of the plants?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, that is the cost, the OM&A cost, divided by the production.

MS. SPOEL:  So, because Sir Adam Beck is so big, and has the lowest ratio, it would cause the weighted average to be lower than you might otherwise expect?

MR. MAZZA:  That is a factor, yes.

MR. FAYE:  I think that's a very valid point, until I look at the far-right column and I find out that Beck 1 is a 400 to 700 megawatt plant, and that Saunders is a 700 megawatt plant or better, and to me they would have the offsetting effect that they would dilute any really good performance from Beck 1.

So, in order to clarify this, would you be prepared to give an undertaking to just give us the formula of how this number is arrived at?  If you could ask Navigant how they did it?

MR. SMITH:  Well, we're certainly prepared to provide an undertaking to provide perhaps an additional level of detail which I believe would respond to my friend's questions, specifically how the Q1, how the Q1 ranking is derived, having regard to the ranking above.  I'm not sure that I can provide the specific formula, but I believe that we can prepare an undertaking that will provide the Board and my friend with further information as to how that particular ranking for the five OPG plants as above was arrived at.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, I think we would like an explanation for what, on the face of it, appears inconsistent.

MR. SMITH:  We’re certainly prepared to do that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  We'll call that Undertaking J1.9, and that's to provide additional information explaining the rankings on chart 4 on Exhibit F1, tab 1, schedule 1.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think it's to explain the derivation of the results shown in the last two lines of chart 4.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  to PROVIDE ADDITIONAL INFORMATION TO EXPLAIN THE DERIVATION OF THE RESULTS SHOWN IN THE LAST TWO LINES OF CHART 4 AND CHART 5

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. FAYE:  And I had similar questions on chart 5, and perhaps we could just include that in the same undertaking.


I don't understand how all five OPG plants come out at Q1 in the last line, when only one of them actually fell into Q1 in the first section.  It looks like one was right on the borderline between Q1 and Q2.  But it's not such a dramatic leap, but it's still a fairly substantial leap to get them all into Q1 at the bottom.

If you could include that in your undertaking as to elaborate on how this was arrived at?

MR. SMITH:  We'll do that.  We'll refrain from a discussion about the characterization of the rankings, but we'll provide the undertaking.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And the last brief question I have is, Mr. Millar asked you this morning about power used at your hydroelectric stations.  And you gave him to understand that there was no way of quantifying that, because you didn't meter it.  And I wonder, in your control room, do you not have output on every unit in the station?  Isn't that right in front of the operator's eyes on his screen, so you know how much is coming out of each unit, don't you?

MR. MAZZA:  We do, but it's not like a revenue-quality type metering system that really measures the output of the facility.  Earlier today, when you asked Mr. Peterson the question of whether we metered it, we used to meter it pre the market opening.  We had what we called the operational meters, but they were all -- and they were, I guess, read manually at the time, pre-market opening.  And at that time we did come up with some energy -- I guess energy consumption numbers.  And they were quite low, when you look at the overall production of the facilities.  And subsequent to the market opening, those meters, because they weren't of the quality required, we discontinued servicing and reading them.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, I don't think that we were necessarily asking, or anyone was necessarily expecting, revenue-quality data.  I think what Mr. Millar was asking for was an estimate.  And it sounds like, on the basis of your unit output data, you could give an estimate within a reasonable margin of error, couldn't you?

MR. MAZZA:  I can't really comment on that.  I'm not an operator.

MR. FAYE:  Is there someone else on the panel?

MR. PETERSON:  Difficult to do based on -- sorry, I think that would be difficult to do based on the metering you're talking about.  That's instantaneous type readings that the operator's looking at.  What you're looking at is basically a kilowatt-hour meter, much like you would have at your home.  And as Mr. Mazza pointed out, this is not something we maintain or have, so...

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Let me ask the question this way.  Before you got rid of the old revenue -- the old poorer-than-revenue-quality metering, what was your number then?  What was the percentage used on -- for station auxiliaries?

MR. MAZZA:  I can't give you a number for the regulated assets.  I don't have that number.

MR. FAYE:  Is it available anywhere?

MR. MAZZA:  I'd have to look to see through the records.  Again, it was pre the market opening, so I'd have to check to see what records we have.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Could you do that?  And if you can get a number that gives us some order-of-magnitude type understanding there?  Would that be okay?

MR. SMITH:  We'll make an enquiry to see what we have.

MR. MILLAR:  That's Undertaking J1.10.  And Mr. Faye, we're talking about a few things, so could you repeat what the undertaking is specifically for?

MR. FAYE:  To look back in their records to see what the on-site usage of electricity was for plant auxiliaries at the time when they did meter it.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.10:  TO LOOK BACK OVER RECORDS TO DETERMINE THE ON-SITE USAGE OF ELECTRICITY FOR PLANT AUXILIARIES DURING THE TIME IT WAS METERED.

MR. MAZZA:  Could I clarify the question?  Is it only for the regulated facilities?

MR. FAYE:  Yes, just for the regulated facilities.

MR. MAZZA:  Because -- yeah.

MR. FAYE:  And that completes my questioning, Madam Chair.  Mr. Rubin can take over after the break, if it suits you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, I think that's fine.  We'll break now for 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 3:27 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:50 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, just before we begin, we had indicated that we would get back to people about the ability to update the SBG forecast, and also whether or not we had the information for SBG for the regulated or for the prescribed facilities.  I believe we have information in respect of both of those.

So I can provide that information now or at the end of the day, whichever you would prefer.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Let's do it now, since you raised it.

MR. SMITH:  So Mr. Peterson, I understand that you have had an opportunity to look at the actual SBG incurred in -- or observed in 2010; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.  That's correct.  I have an update.  As of current up to date, it's 20.4 gigawatt-hours at the regulated facilities, and recognizing that we are just now heading into the SBG season, flows are picking up and so we expect that number will increase prior to the end of the year.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And then were you able to look into the issue of whether or not you would be in a position to update your SBG forecast?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And what can you advise the Board in that respect?

MR. PETERSON:  I'm of the belief that just updating one number such as the Bruce Power in the SBG forecast would be not representative.  There is so many inputs that went into the SBG forecast.  There are numerous inputs and variables, and simply replacing one of those inputs would not provide you with a valuable number or output as a result of that.

We put considerable effort into producing an SBG forecast, including looking at many of these variables.  And as I say, just substituting one variable wouldn't really produce a result that had any validity.

MR. LORD:  Sorry, and just to follow up on that --


MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry.  There was one additional item.  There was Undertaking J1.2 was to provide the forecast of HIM for 2010, I believe, and I believe we have that information as well.

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I do.  Our 2010 forecast for HIM was $8 million.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Lord, did you have...

MR. LORD:  Yes, just to follow up on the second point.  I fear that I may have led the witness astray with my focus on Bruce Units 1 and 2 as examples of things that were material.  But the request regarding an updated forecast wasn't confined to any changes with respect to just that variable.


Mr. Peterson indicated that they used as part of the inputs of their model, IESO outlooks from 2009, I believe it was August 2009, but we know that there are new outlooks available this year, August 2010, that may have other variables that have changed other than just Bruce.

So, just to make my request clear, it wasn’t to, you know, double-check if Bruce has changed only and update the forecast based on only that, but to look more generally at the inputs to the model, see if they have changed materially in the past year or so, and update the model accordingly.

MR. PETERSON:  I think in answer to that, there are a significant number of variables that go into an SBG forecast, and it would be a significant undertaking to redo that SBG forecast and vet the answer.

MR. LORD:  If that's the case, we may just have to pick the issue up when we talk about variance accounts then.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So, Mr. Rubin, I think you're...

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I'm going to be dealing with a document that has been circulated, albeit belatedly.  It's a document from the last payments hearing, and it was produced on July 3rd, 2008 by OPG as Undertaking J15.6.

And since I will be dealing with this, I wonder if we can give it an exhibit number, or does it need one in this proceeding?

MR. MILLAR:  I would propose that we do, Madam Chair.  We can call that Exhibit K1.5, and it is Undertaking J15.6 from the EB-2007-0905 proceeding.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5: UNDERTAKING J15.6 FROM THE EB-2007-0905 PROCEEDING


MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubin:


MR. RUBIN:  Panel, I'd like to start you with a discussion about the HIM revenue forecast from EB-2007-0905.  A number of people have discussed its best estimate of around $12 million.  But isn't it true that it was really a spread with a 90 percent confidence interval that ran from 5.2 million to 19.3 million?  Was anybody involved in that or have reviewed it recently?

MR. PETERSON:  I was not involved in the last hearing.  I’m not aware of that evidence.

MR. RUBIN:  I can take you, actually, thanks to Mr. Lord's package, which you probably all still have in front of you, Exhibit K1.3, the Board's summary of that estimate is on Mr. Lord's page 8, the end of the very top block paragraph, where it says:
"Estimated at between 5 million and 19 million."

I was hoping to make a point that the reality turned out not just significantly different from the best guess, but that it turned out much higher than the top of the 90 percent confidence interval, which is supposed to be below -- is supposed to be an upper limit 19 times out of 20, 95 percent.

I wonder if it's reasonable to ask for confirmation -- or ask for an estimation of what the predicted probability was that we would get as high as $23 million, based on that forecast.

MR. PETERSON:  I'm afraid I wouldn't know the answer to that question.

MR. RUBIN:  OPG must know the answer because they calculated the 90 percent confidence interval in calculating the Sigmas to a specific number is relatively trivial math, at least for people who are good at math I'm not, anymore.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sure we can take a look and see if that calculation is available, and if it is, that we'll provide it.  I must say I query the utility of it, given its -- obviously it's going to be less than 5 percent, and presumably Mr. Rubin's going to make the argument that it was an outside, outside possibility.  But we'll see what is there.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  I'll give that a number.  J1.11.  Does everyone understand what the undertaking is requesting?
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.11:  to PROVIDE CALCULATION OF ESTIMATED PROBABILITY OF GENERATING HIM REVENUE OF $23 MILLION BASED ON THE FORECAST PRESENTED IN EB-2007-0905

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe you could repeat it, Mr. Rubin.

MR. RUBIN:  I could take a shot at it:  To calculate the estimated probability of generating HIM revenue of $23 million, based on the forecast presented in EB-2007-0905.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  We'll do that.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Looking at your Exhibit E1-02-01 on the hydroelectric incentive mechanism, is it fair to say that the document largely demonstrates that you've been responding and that you've been buying cheap and selling dear, in general, and that therefore the incentive mechanism seems to be working?

Is that a fair, quick summary?

MR. PETERSON:  I think what we're trying to put forth here is that, generally speaking, the incentive mechanism has driven OPG to respond correctly to market signals.

MR. RUBIN:  Does the document ever address the question of whether you may be overdriven or over-responding to the signals, whether you may be using -- overusing the PGS?

MR. PETERSON:  I think that what we're saying is that the greater the occurrence of opportunities to use it and the greater we seize upon those opportunities, the greater the benefit to the ratepayer.  I don't know how you get to characterize that as being overuse.

MR. RUBIN:  You would agree that there are times when it's inappropriate to use it?

MR. PETERSON:  There are times when our forecasts leads us to make incorrect decisions.  That would be fair to say.

MR. RUBIN:  And there are also times when you choose to leave it idle, because it's an inappropriate time to use it?

MR. PETERSON:  We would leave it idle if we were forecasting that there was not a need to cycle it, yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, in fact, you do leave it idle something like 29 percent of the time, correct?  Or you did during 2009, I believe the evidence is, correct?

MR. PETERSON:  That would be a portion of the idle time.  I mean, it's not possible -- there's a limit to how much you can cycle it.  You couldn't -- the size of the pond itself dictates that there are some limitations to it.

MR. RUBIN:  And there are also economic reasons to leave it idle when the price is not appropriate to either buying or selling, either to pumping or generating.  Isn't that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  There are times when it would be, on an economic basis, not appropriate to use the PGS.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  And -- okay.

So would you -- whether or not you think the question is valid, I think I'm hearing the answer that the document never does address the question of whether you might be erring on the side of overusing the PGS, whether you might be, for example, over-incented to do so?

MR. PETERSON:  I guess I'm not sure I understand the question.  The document outlines what the final outcome was, based on OPG's operations utilizing our forecast.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Moving to this Exhibit K1.5, were any of you on the panel involved in this issue in the previous hearing, or in the production, if I'm really lucky, of this undertaking response?  I see shaking heads.  "No" from all?

MR. PETERSON:  No, I don't believe so.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Well, without giving evidence here, what you have in front of you is an undertaking that was produced after the end of the oral hearing.  It was your job, in dealing with the HIM, was dealt with by a different panel the last time.  It was dealt with by the last panel that also dealt with variance accounts and the like, rather than hydroelectric operations.  So it came up very late in the hearing.  It raised new issues.  And I was pursuing a line of questioning precisely about over-incentivizing.  I was pretty sure at the time that I had discovered a kind of double payment, in addition to what was explained in the explanation of the formula.

I got nothing when I tried to get the panel to confirm that what I said was true, except an undertaking to check the math and provide an answer.  The answer came in after cross-examinations and oral hearing was over.  This is the answer.  This is the first chance I've had to cross-examine anybody on it.  Your bad luck.

Have you had a chance to read it?

MR. PETERSON:  Given the math that is outlaid here, I don't think that I've had a great deal of time to look at it.

MR. RUBIN:  And are you the person who is -- on the panel who is taking the lead on this?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I am.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Well, let me try to walk you through it as quickly as we can both manage, so that I don't just end up with other undertakings.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm sorry, Mr. Rubin, when was this provided to the witnesses and to OPG?  Or when were they advised that you were going to refer to this?

MR. RUBIN:  First thing this morning.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.

MR. RUBIN:  Not first thing, second thing this morning.

MS. CHAPLIN:  That's satisfactory.  So today, not yesterday?

MR. RUBIN:  Not yesterday.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Or Friday.  All right.

Mr. Smith -- I'm quite content for you to pursue this line of questioning.  I want to make best use of the panel's time and our hearing time.  Mr. Smith, would it be advisable for the witnesses to have an opportunity to review this overnight and we have Mr. Rubin's questions on this tomorrow, or would you prefer it --


MR. SMITH:  Well, I would -- well, this may be one of those things I rue, but I think I would prefer to move on.  I just don't -- I just don't want to -- I want to avoid a suggestion that anything should be drawn from the witnesses having to reflect on something.  I think we should get the questions out.  I appreciate Mr. Rubin's preamble.  He didn't get a chance to cross-examine on it.  You know, we could have got this document much earlier, but I think we should make effective use of the hearing time and move on.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  No, I just noticed there are a number of other counsel who still have cross-examination --


MR. SMITH:  Well, if there is somebody else who can take the next 20 minutes or however long we're going to sit, I'd be perfectly fine with that as well.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Well, since you're not particularly asking for more time, I think we'll just continue on, Mr. Rubin.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  All right.  Let me start at the beginning and see how we do.

I had posed a hypothetical, in the interest of simplicity, which was that in a 30-day month the PGS was not used for 29 of those days, and that on one day -- I chose the last, which unfortunately caused a lot of people to get very concerned about end-of-month gaming, which is, as far as I'm concerned, completely irrelevant.  It could have been the first day of the month, it could have been the middle day of the month, but on one day of the month the PGS was run hard.  It was pumped a bunch, and then it was -- the water was allowed to flow.  It generated a bunch.

And the question was simply, if you know your HIM formula -- I can take you to the HIM formula.  It's actually -- you have it on paper from Mr. Lord's package in addition.  It's on his page 7.  But I'm sure you know your own HIM formula.

The formula, in two places, uses a term MWAVG, which is the hourly volume or the actual average hourly net energy production over the month.

That is a key trigger point, I like to call it.  It's a key dividing line between -- underneath that you get the regulatory rate, in general, and over it you have to buy at market rates when you're -- or you produce at market rates.  It is the line between those two regimes.  Is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Unlike most incentive schemes, which set a tripping point that is given by God or a regulatory agency, this one is actually set by the performance during the very month in which the incentive operates; is that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  The point I'm trying to get -- I hate to telegraph this, but here it comes -- the point I'm trying to get is that this is a dependent variable, it's not an independent variable, and that precisely operating the PGS changes that number, because the PGS effectively destroys megawatt-hours.  Because it has an efficiency somewhat south of 50 percent, every time you use it you are trading in 30 megawatts per unit of pumping power on something on the order of 14 or 15 megawatts of electricity returned when you use the PGS to generate electricity with that water.  Is that last part correct?  That's how the PGS works?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.  I'd like to draw you to our evidence.  In Exhibit E1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 1, on line 25, we talk about OPG's decision-making criteria when it comes to decisions regarding pump and generating.

MR. RUBIN:  Sorry, page 1?

MR. PETERSON:  Page 1, line 25.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes?

MR. PETERSON:  It's part of section 3.1.

MR. RUBIN:  Impact of the incentive mechanism on operating decisions, that section 3.1?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes?

MR. PETERSON:  It starts out:

“OPG's decisions to move energy production from off-peak to on-peak are within the constraints imposed by the market, asset and hydrologic conditions based on economics."

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.

MR. PETERSON:  And specifically, I can assure you that all the decisions we make on the economics are based on the short-run marginal costs during the day.  We look toward the next on-peak or off-peak period as appropriate.

MR. RUBIN:  Sure.  Yes.  I accept that assurance.  My question is whether, ultimately, whether the formula that you came up with, which is on, for example, Mr. Lord's page 7, whether that HIM formula, first of all, whether it is the totality of the incentives that you are given to use the PGS and to use it appropriately; and secondly, whether the amount of money you collect from using the PGS, including payments from this formula, are appropriate or whether they are excessive.

And my point of view is that because the operation of the PGS lowers your average monthly volume, it increases your revenues in ways that are not captured in the obvious reading of the formula, that there's a second incentive payment that is not small compared to the one that seems to be generated by the formula, that you are over-incented and that I am overpaying for the operation of the PGS, as a result.

MR. PETERSON:  I don't believe that to be true.

MR. RUBIN:  I believe you don't.  Let me walk you through it, because that I believe the response to Undertaking J15.6 in fact conceded that it is true, that there is a second payment, and it suggests that that payment is small and that the calculation is conservative and overstating.  It makes a number of claims of that kind.  And OPG in argument successfully argued that the whole thing was small enough that it should be let go.  And it was let go on the understanding that there would be a follow-up study, which we are now examining.

The concession that the -- what I call the second incentive payment exists is in this document.  Let me see if I can find it.

Let me go back to the questions I scripted.  It may get us there sooner.  The example in Exhibit J15.6 in that proceeding now, Exhibit K1.5 in this one, in this document, the exhibit says that running the PGS for six hours on a single day pumping and six hours on a single day generating, first of all, it says that that's unrealistic and can't be sustained.  That claim is, for example, in the first bullet point on the second page, where it says:
"The Beck complex cannot physically accommodate the amount of pumping assumed in these examples."

Do you see that bullet point?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBIN:  “In addition to economic signals, the
amount of pumping is dependent on unit reliability, elevation of the pump storage facility, AGC requirements, and hydrologic conditions."

Did I get that right?

MR. PETERSON:  This is all true.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Now, perhaps you can explain to me how that works.  I understand if the unit is unreliable, you can't work it, so the first point I think we can take as given.

I understand hydrologic conditions. I understand you can't pump water you don't have or that you need somewhere else.

Perhaps you can explain how the elevation of the pump storage facility either changes during this experiment or otherwise enters into the equation.

MR. PETERSON:  The pump storage facility consists of a man-made lake in which we pump the water from the diversion, the Beck diversion, into the man-made lake to store it for use at a later time.

Obviously there's a limit to how much water you could move into that storage lake.  It has a given volume, and depending on where that elevation was when you started at the beginning of the day or end of the day would dictate how much you could or could not utilize it in that day.

MR. RUBIN:  Oh, so you take elevation of the pump storage facility to mean how full that lake already is?

MR. PETERSON:  That's exactly what it means.

MR. RUBIN:  Ah-ha.  So if it's full, you can't pump any more in it.

MR. PETERSON:  Correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Great.  There’s now three out of four that I accept.  Let’s get to the last one.   AGC requirements is the needs of the grid for grid control, for frequency control and that sort of thing?

MR. PETERSON:  That's correct.  That's automatic generation control, a service that we provide to the market.

MR. RUBIN:  And there are times when the facility would be called on to generate, for example, when you might otherwise not want to generate in order to perform that function?

MR. PETERSON:  Either pump or generate, it occurs on both sides of the cycle.

MR. RUBIN:  Aha.  Fascinating.  Thanks for that.

And the amount of operation that this response says cannot be physically accommodated is six hours per day of pumping and six hours per day of generating.  Do you see that in the document?

MR. PETERSON:  No, I do not.  Where is it?

MR. RUBIN:  Well, for example, on the top of page 3 of 4.  At the bottom of the previous page, it says, specific results of running my simplified scenario of one day of PGS out of 30.  And once again, there's a footnote saying that:
"It is rarely possible to pump six PGS units at maximum efficiency for six hours due to unreliability issues, elevation, AGC and hydrologic..."

The same four reasons make this unrealistically aggressive to run for six hours in each direction during a day?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.  Are you looking for me to agree with that?  I'm not sure what your question was, I guess.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, no.  Let me first give you another set of statements and you can help me hold them up to the light and try to reconcile them.  Because I read this six hours uphill and six hours downhill as adding up to 12 hours per day of operation or 50 percent total, 25 percent each.

 In Exhibit E1-02-01, your report on the incentive mechanism, you tell us that you actually generated 44 percent of the time, and pump 27 percent of the time, for a total of 71 percent of the whole year in 2009.  And I'm just wondering if you can help me reconcile how 50 percent is unrealistically high and 71 percent is actual over a year.

MR. PETERSON:  Sorry.  You have me at a bit of a disadvantage here.  I'm having a difficult time following you through this evidence.  You seem to be referencing six unit hours of pump and then six hours of generation, I don't --


MR. RUBIN:  Correct.

MR. PETERSON:  I'm not sure I see that reference here at all.

MR. RUBIN:  Top line of page 3 of 4 of the document I distributed, this one that's now K1.5.

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, it’s referencing pump.

MR. RUBIN:  Say it again?

MR. PETERSON:  It's referencing pump hours, yes, but I don't see any reference to generation.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, if you look, for example, to the bottom of that same page, you'll see the calculation of how the formula works through this day we're talking about.  And the top line is six hours of pumping six times, and the rest is the formula for the price, the revenue that flows from the pumping, which is decreased by the pumping.

The next line –- are you with me these four lines of numbers?

The next line is the two hours when nothing happens, neither pumping nor flowing.  The third line is the six hours of generation, which has higher revenues because you're generating.  And the final is ten hours when nothing happens, so that gets you to 24 hours because that's a day.

MR. PETERSON:  I'm beginning to follow you.

MR. RUBIN:  Good.  So anyway, the assumption in this thought experiment of what happens, isn't it true that just running it hard for just one day decreases this set point in your formula, and therefore increases your revenues in ways that don't show up in the spread you're talking about in the formula?  That's the key.  And this thought experiment was run on one day, with six hours of pumping that you see in the top line of those four lines of numbers, and the third line has the six lines of generation.  And that's one of the places where this document says they’re also assuming six hours of generation.

And in the -- moving back toward the top of -- toward the top of the page, right under the formula, there is, at the top of page 3 of 4, there's a four-line paragraph followed by a formula, followed by a sentence.  And that sentence is one of several places where this document concedes that running the PGS does in fact affect the monthly and the hourly volume upon which the incentive mechanism hinges.  And elsewhere -- do you see that?  And --


MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBIN:  -- have I characterized it fairly?

MR. PETERSON:  It's a very small number, yes.

MR. RUBIN:  It is a small percentage from one day of operation.

MR. PETERSON:  Correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  And can you tell me what it's a small percentage of?  Because I believe it's a small percentage of the hourly volume from the entire Sir Adam Beck complex.

MR. PETERSON:  I'm not sure that I can answer that question without --


MR. RUBIN:  Is that not --


MR. PETERSON:  -- spending more time studying this.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, you know the HIM formula, and you know it has an hourly volume in it.  Is that hourly volume not the hourly volume from the Sir Adam Beck complex?  Anybody on the panel?

MR. PETERSON:  No.  Sorry.  It's the average hourly production of all of our regulated facilities.

MR. RUBIN:  Oh, great.  Even better.  That's a terrific answer.  Thank you.

So .06 percent, you know, a tiny percent of a monster number, can still be a good-sized number.  I'm sure we're agreed on that on principle.

So it's .06 percent of all of your hourly average revenues for the month from all of your regulated hydroelectric facilities, correct?

MR. PETERSON:  I'm not sure I can either agree or disagree with you on this point.

MR. RUBIN:  I thought I was repeating what you just said, that it's from all of your regulated facilities.  That's --


MR. PETERSON:  The hour -- what I stated was that the terms of the formula, in -- the terms of the formula, the monthly average, is the average hourly production from all of our regulated facilities.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  Which OPG calls "hourly volume" for short.

MR. PETERSON:  Correct.

MR. RUBIN:  And that -- isn't that -- do you see "hourly volume" in that sentence I just took you to?  Aren't we talking about the same hourly volume?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Great.

Now, at the end of this document there is an attempt to monetize this effect I'm talking about, this thing that I call a second incentive payment.  And in the first of three points at the end, at the very top of the last page, page 4 of 4, it says:
"The total revenues for the month are 51,882,130.  The incremental revenues..."


And these are the incremental revenues from running this thought experiment, one day out of 30 you actually use the pump generating station, and you not only get the revenues from beating the spread and buying low and selling high, you also get what this sentence calls "incremental revenues," which are the ones I was steering to, from changing the hourly average.  And this concedes that from that one day of operation out of a 365-day year, those revenues would total almost $35,000.  Do you see that?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I do.  And that's gross revenues.

MR. RUBIN:  That's correct.  And let's stop right there, and let's talk about gross versus net, because the next few sentences suggest that the non-energy market charges should be subtracted from that.  And frankly, that puzzles me.  I didn't understand two years ago why that should be the case and I still don't.

You take the non-energy charges into account in deciding whether it's worth using the PGS or not; isn't that correct?

MR. PETERSON:  What we're talking about, a net figure, we are talking about -- first of all, there's gross revenue, which is fairly straightforward.  The net revenue is after our costs.  Part of our costs are the non-energy charges, as well as the energy charges and efficiency losses.

MR. RUBIN:  Sure.  That would be a reasonable net if you were deciding to run the PGS one extra hour.  Isn't that where it -- it would make perfect sense in that calculation, wouldn't it?  Because you would incur the extra $15 per megawatt-hour for running it more, correct?

MR. PETERSON:  If you do one additional hour, yes, you would incur an additional hour's worth of costs.

MR. RUBIN:  Sure.  But I wasn't asking to -- for the effect of running it for an extra hour on total revenues, I was asking for the effect of this second incentive.  In other words, you're already taking the -- you wouldn't be taking the first incentive payment if the $15 a megawatt-hour were enough to make it a loss.

It's double-counting to attribute that to this thought experiment, where what I'm really asking you is, how much is the second cheque for?  You're already getting the money from the formula and covering your costs out of it.  Now I'm asking you, how much do you get by depressing your hourly volume?  And depressing your hourly volume happens to be a side effect because of the way this formula works, because it is measuring things from a point that floats depending on what you do, rather than measuring from a fixed point.

MR. PETERSON:  If I understand this evidence correctly -- and as I say, I've not had any chance to review it, but I think what we've said here is that on a total of $52 million in revenue in a month, there would be, yes, from the effect you're talking about, a net increase to our income of about 18 or $19,000 --


MR. RUBIN:  Well, again, I think that's not true.  You would be getting a lot of money from the formula, right?  The total revenues from the month would be $52 million from running the formula.  Out of that you wouldn't take that 52 million if it didn't swamp the $15 per megawatt-hour.

MR. PETERSON:  Sorry, I don't understand that question.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, I don't understand what the $15 per megawatt-hour has to do here, except that somebody found something that's a cost and decided to subtract it from the answer to my question.

My question was, how much extra revenue does OPG get from the depression of the hourly average in addition to everything else that you have been talking about?  Because nobody talked about the fact that running the PGS depresses your average hourly volume.

MR. PETERSON:  I think what we're saying here is that we're conceding that the pumping of the PGS does have some impact on the overall monthly average, but that it is very minimal, and as it points out here, it's a very -- represents a very small amount.

MR. RUBIN:  I'm happy to deal with argument when it's time to deal with argument.  I want to deal with the numbers now, and we can agree or disagree on whether they're big numbers or small numbers.  But I'd like to get the numbers clear.

Will you agree with me that the revenue, gross or net, from the depression of the hourly average, as opposed to anything else in your universe, but the revenue that flows from the change in the hourly average from this one day of operation, that that totals $34,930, according to this document?

MR. PETERSON:  In gross revenues.

MR. RUBIN:  And would you agree that focussing your spotlight on the second incentive payment does not incur any costs per megawatt-hour, non-energy market charges, or anything of the like?  We're just asking a question?  That is, the $15 per megawatt-hour is per megawatt-hour pumped.  I'm not asking you to pump any more, I'm asking you to examine the impact of what you're already doing.

MR. SMITH:  Well, with respect --


MR. RUBIN:  We can move along.

MR. SMITH:  -- that question has already been asked, and the witness has said he doesn't have the answer without reflecting on it.  So --


MR. RUBIN:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  -- this shouldn't devolve into argument about that point.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Agreed.

MR. SMITH:  It may be, at this stage, it's more useful to have Mr. Peterson review the document.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, Mr. Smith, you were offered that opportunity.  You did not take it.  I think we will -- do you -- how much more you have on this, Mr. Rubin?

MR. RUBIN:  I don't believe I will take us all the way to 5:00, but I have been wrong on these things.

MS. CHAPLIN:  We are leaving at -- we are finishing today at quarter to 5:00.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  I will finish by then.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, no, I'm not saying you have to finish by then.  I'm saying --


MR. RUBIN:  I am hopeful.

MS. CHAPLIN:  -- would you expect to be able to finish this area by quarter to 5:00?

MR. RUBIN:  I'm hopeful that I can --


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Let's proceed.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Mr. Peterson, on number 2 on that same page, I think you'll find that it is a lot like number 1, except it's dealing with pumping on two days of the month.  It says the last two days of the month, but I believe it could be any two days of the month.  And it says, does it not, that the impact on the hourly volume is twice that of scenario 1-A?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, it does.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  It does not quantify the numbers, but would you agree with me it's reasonable to think that the dollar numbers would be double as well?  Oh, I'm sorry.  It does.  It says, “The impact on revenue is twice the incremental value.”  It does.  It's fair to double the incremental value to OPG if you do it for two days instead of one.

 Would you agree with me that under point number 3, it would be reasonable to multiply it times 30 or 31 for the entire month?  Or times 365 to skip the intermediate step for a year's worth?

MR. PETERSON:  I would agree with the statement as it's presented here.  And again, it adds a caveat that this is not physically possible.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, again, I've asked you tell me how it is physically impossible to run for 50 percent and historical fact to run for 71 percent.  And there may well be an answer, but I haven't heard it yet.  So if you can help me with that or give me an undertaking to address it later.  I see a paradox.  I've given you both of those references.  They're both from OPG -- yeah, go ahead.

MR. PETERSON:  Sorry, I believe you're trying to tie together the amount of operation as outlined here to the 71 percent, is that...

MR. RUBIN:  Yes, to the amount of operation that you actually did in 2009.  Yes.  If you did more than you said was feasible, I'd love an explanation.

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.  When we say that the PGS is used 71 percent of the time, that does not mean that it's used at its full capacity, all six units, at 71 percent of the time.  It's not six units pumping or six units gen-ing, it would be a portion of that capacity that was being utilized.

MR. RUBIN:  Do you have a full-time equivalent or an annual capacity factor or any numbers that would help us integrate how many hours a day of flat-out operation would be equivalent to what you actually did?

MR. PETERSON:  No, I do not.  No.

MR. RUBIN:  There isn't a chart somewhere that says on each day how many megawatt-hours you actually consumed and how many megawatt-hours you actually produced from the PGS?

MR. PETERSON:  There would be numbers to that effect.  It wouldn't necessarily speak to its relevance to total capacity.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, we know the capacity of the units.  That part's not hard.

MR. PETERSON:  Units don't always operate at full, full efficiency.

MR. RUBIN:  Sorry, were --


MR. PETERSON:  I suppose it could be calculated what the equivalent is.

MR. RUBIN:  I often have trouble understanding how people do things that seem hard to me.  This time I'm having trouble understanding why this should be hard.  You know how many megawatt-hours you consume to pump at the PGS.  You know how many megawatt-hours you generated by flowing that same water.  You know it for every day of the year.  You know it for the whole year.

Can't you calculate from that what a full-time equivalent number of hours per day average would be?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes, I think you could.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Should we give that an Undertaking number or --you're not going to do it now, you're going to bring it back to us.

MR. SMITH:  We're prepared to do that.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  This will be...

MR. MILLAR:  J1.12.  And Mr. Rubin, again, would you mind restating the undertaking?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  To calculate the annual capacity factor of the pump generating -- PGS in each direction during 2009.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.12:  to CALCULATE THE ANNUAL CAPACITY FACTOR OF PGS IN EACH DIRECTION DURING 2009

MR. RUBIN:  Does that work?  I see nods from the panel, so I think it works.  Thank you.

I've done the math on the net number, assuming that it does make sense to subtract out the $15 per megawatt-hour non-energy market charge, as I -- which I believe is wrong.  But net of that, I come up with roughly $6.8 million for 365 days of operation, at the mode described in the thought experiment, that is, six days of -- six hours of full-time pumping and six hours of full-time flowing, generating on each day, whether that's possible or not, we're going to get a better handle on after that last undertaking is fulfilled.

But given those assumptions and given the price assumptions in this document, I come up with $6.8 million.  And it would be more like almost twice that much without the net subtraction of the non-energy market charges.

Could you, you know, either say yes, subject to check, or -- I mean, this is much easier math than I've been asking you to do.  But the quantum, it doesn't surprise you that this number of 18.7000 dollars a day times a year would come up in the order of $6 or 7 million, does it?

MR. PETERSON:  First of all, can you draw a reference in this to where it says that it's non-energy charges?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  The second line of that last page says:
"OPG incurs additional non-energy market charges for pumping.  These are approximately $15 per megawatt-hour pumped."

And that's been netted out from what I'm calling the second incentive payment.  That is the extra revenue that accrues to OPG from the fact that running the PGS depresses the key number in the formula, the key number -- the key constant.

MR. PETERSON:  Just to be sure I understand, all of your numbers are premised on this thought experiment, as you characterize it, of pumping a maximum of six units per day every day?  Sorry.  You're losing me somewhat.

MR. RUBIN:  That's correct.  Pumping six -- no, the case number one was doing it only one day in a 30-day month.  And then OPG went on to say, if you did it for two days, everything would double.  And by the way, if you did it for 30 days, everything would be multiplied by 30.  And that's what I'm doing.  Now I'm multiplying times 365 so we can skip talking about leap years of --


MR. PETERSON:  I think that's what I just asked you.  You're premising it on the fact that we would do this type of cycling each and every day of the year.

MR. RUBIN:  It's a hypothetical, assuming that this 50 percent capacity factor is attainable, and if half of it is attainable, I know how to divide by two and we all do, and we can argue about it later.

What I'm trying to get at is your position, and OPG's position, that this is all de minimus.  It's so trivial it could never either affect behaviour within OPG nor could it be construed as an over-collection of funds or an overpayment of ratepayer funds to OPG, because it's really trivial.

MR. PETERSON:  I would agree with that.

MR. RUBIN:  And would you agree that $7 million a year is trivial or...

MR. PETERSON:  But you're not drawing the same -- you're -- what we are saying is the actual impact is trivial on our day-to-day operation.  We do not operate in the manner in which you're trying to characterize, nor do I believe it's possible to operate in that manner.

MR. RUBIN:  Are you suggesting that the effect of running the PGS on your hourly average depends on something having to do with six hours or running flat out or anything like that?  Doesn't every time you pump and generate with the PGS, it affects your total volume and therefore your average volume, does it not?

MR. PETERSON:  I think we've conceded that, yes, conceded to that point that, yes, there is a very small impact or effect from increasing your PGS generation.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, maybe it's small and maybe it isn't and I don't think you know what it is, and I don't know what it is, but we're going to get there once we put the undertakings together.  Isn't that fair?  We're going to do some math, we're going to see some numbers, and then you may still say it's small and I may say it's not small, but we're not there yet, are we?

MR. PETERSON:  It's not a factor in our decision-making process.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  I accept your statement on that.  And, as I said, that's only one of my concerns.  If we're over-collecting to pay you because of using the PGS even if it doesn't work as an over-incentive, then we've designed the incentive scheme wrong because we're overpaying.  And we're underpaying, perhaps, when you're under-running it.  In other words, we've set this up as an incentive.  It's variable with your operation, like an incentive, but we haven't designed it very well because we left out the second check.

That's my position and, you know, we can save argument for later but, you know, I would ask you please not to throw in the word "small" any more often than you have to until we get around to argument, because I think that will come up in argument.

And perhaps you can answer some technical questions for me before we wrap up.  One is, at the beginning of this document, it's quite clear on the top of page 2 that the direct effect of pumping with the PGS, which is to consume 30 megawatts of electricity to pump per unit, is dwarfed by the loss of generation from downstream facilities.


I did not know that until I wrapped my head around this piece of paper, that there is -- for every 30 megawatts of electricity consumption for a unit of the PGS, you lose something like 80 megawatts of production from taking the water away from facilities downstream.  And when you reverse it and you generate something like half of the 30 megawatts by flowing, you then get back something like that 80 megawatts from downstream facilities.

Do you see that, and is that something you're already aware of?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.  You had said that it's a loss generation.  It's a time-shifting of generation.  You're moving that 80 megawatts from one time period to another.

MR. RUBIN:  Understood.  I might call it a deferral.  Would you agree with that characterization?

MR. PETERSON:  I would.

MR. RUBIN:  Excellent.  But at any rate, that deferral of generation turns out to be large, compared to the direct consumption and generation of the PGS itself.  Would you agree with that?

MR. PETERSON:  Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Is there a time lag?  Do the downstream facilities immediately decrease output when the PGS starts running, or does it have to wait until a wave goes downstream?  How does it work?

MR. PETERSON:  I think Joan could -- sorry, Ms. Frain could answer that one better.

MS. FRAIN:  It's a very short time frame between the PGS and the Beck unit reaction.

MR. RUBIN:  A few minutes --


MS. FRAIN:  Pretty much.

MR. RUBIN:  -- I think.  So -- okay.  Thank you.  And in both directions.

MS. FRAIN:  Correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Thanks.  Just before I wrap up, I think the only question that's jumping off the page is about the non-energy market charges.

Are these recent, only since -- they're since the market came in?  I don't understand why you're penalized for pumping water, do you?

MR. PETERSON:  It's the way in which the market and the rates are structured.  We, as a consumer of electricity, pay the costs as outlined in -- under the Market Rules and as directed by the OEB.

MR. RUBIN:  But, I mean, you're generating the power yourself.  It's not as if you've sold it to a third party and you have to pay to buy it back.  This is power you would be selling, except you're using it yourself, so you don't sell it, so you're losing the revenue on selling it already, aren't you?

MR. PETERSON:  The configuration at the Beck complex and the PGS specifically is such that under the current rules and directives we pay the energy charge -- market energy charges.  In addition, we also pay the non-energy charges.  That's the way things are structured within our marketplace.

MR. RUBIN:  What does non-energy --


MR. PETERSON:  It's not something we can avoid.

MR. RUBIN:  What does non-energy charges mean, other than somebody told you you have to pay $15 a megawatt-hour?

MR. PETERSON:  Non-energy charges consist of -- I can draw you to the reference in the evidence of specifically what they are.  There are a number of --


MR. RUBIN:  Oh, yes, sorry.  I beg your pardon.  I know there are some, and I understand this is one of them.  I thought you were giving me some physical reality or something else, but --


MR. PETERSON:  It's the way in which the PGS is physically connected to the system.  It has its own connection point to the system, and therefore, under the Market Rules, it is subject to paying energy and non-energy charges for energy that it consumes.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  I can agree to be puzzled about that.

I'm sure I will be kicking myself when I see the questions I did not ask.  But I think under the circumstances either I will be caterwauling in the morning, begging for a few more minutes, but I think I'm finished.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubin.

Just before we finish for today, we will start at 9:30 tomorrow.  However, beginning next week, we will plan to start at nine o'clock on most days and finish around 4:30 each day.

Are there any other matters before we adjourn for the day?  No?

MR. SMITH:  None, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thanks.  So we'll see you tomorrow morning at nine o'clock -- sorry, yes, 9:30.  I hear that.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:48 p.m.
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